
 

 
 
 
 
Summons to Meeting 
 
Tuesday 12 April 2022 
 

Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

 

Friday 22 April 2022, 1.30 pm 
 

Hundith Hill Hotel, Cockermouth 
 

Membership: 
  
Councillor Michael Heaslip (Co-Chair) Councillor Carni McCarron-Holmes (Co-

Chair) 
Councillor Markus Campbell-Savours Councillor Allan Daniels 
Councillor Patrick Gorrill Councillor Malcolm Grainger 
Councillor Iain Greaney Councillor Hilary Harrington 
Councillor Daniel Horsley Councillor Sally Lansbury 
Councillor Ron Munby MBE Councillor Paul Scott 
 

Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting. If you have any questions 
or queries contact Gayle Roach on 01900 702502. 

 

Agenda 
 
1. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 6) 
 

 To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 18 March 2022. 
  

2. Apologies for Absence   
 

3. Declaration of Interests   
 

 Councillors/Staff to give notice of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other 
registrable interest or any other interest and the nature of that interest relating to 
any item on the agenda, in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct. 

  
 
 
 



4. Questions   
 

 To answer questions from members of the public – submitted in writing or by 
electronic mail no later than 5.00pm on a working day, allowing two clear 
working days before the day of the meeting. 

  

5. Public Participation   
 

 To hear representations from members of the public on items which appear on 
the agenda – submitted in writing or by electronic mail no later than 5.00pm, 2 
working days before the meeting. 

  

6. Cumbria Safety Partnership Annual Review  (Pages 7 - 12) 
 

7. Climate Change Update Report  (Pages 13 - 58) 
 

8. Verbal Update on Local Government Reorganisation   
 

9. Forward Plan  (Pages 59 - 68) 
 

10. Task and Finish Group/Working Group Updates  (Pages 69 - 88) 
 

 - To receive the Final report from the Culture and Leisure Provision TFG 
- To receive the Final report from the Community Leadership and 

Engagement TFG 
  

11. Proposed Work Programme for 2022-23  (Pages 89 - 94) 
 

 

 
Programme Director, 
Transformation & 
Operating Model 
 

 
Date of Next Meeting: 

 
Friday 27 May 2022, 1.30 pm 

Council Chamber, Allerdale House 
 
 



At a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee held in Council Chamber, 
Allerdale House on Friday 18 March 2022 at 1.30 pm 
 
Members 
 
 Councillor Michael Heaslip (Co-Chair) 
Councillor Allan Daniels Councillor Patrick Gorrill 
Councillor Iain Greaney Councillor Daniel Horsley 
Councillor Paul Scott  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Carni McCarron-Holmes 
Councillor Markus Campbell-Savours, Councillor Malcolm Grainger, Councillor Hilary 
Harrington and Councillor Sally Lansbury 
 
Staff Present 
 
A FitzGerald, N Hardy, G Roach and A Smith 
 
 
425. Minutes  

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 4 February 2022 were signed as a correct 
record. 
 

426. Declaration of Interests  
 
None declared. 
 

427. Questions  
 
None received. 
 

428. Public Participation  
 
None received. 
 

429. Quarter 3 Performance Report 2021/22  
 
Members considered the Quarter 3 performance report for 2021/22 which 
reported progress on the key projects and activities and corporate KPIs which 
are based on Council Strategy Delivery Plan.  
 
Members raised comments in relation to auditing of grant allocations, the Otley 
Road Scheme in Keswick, the future of the AIP as part of the LGR process, 
disabled facilities grants and payments to local Cumbrian businesses. 
 
Regarding the KPI ‘Review the council’s property and asset management 
strategy’ members asked whether arrangements were still in place to make 
community asset transfers?. 
It was explained that yes arrangements were still in place through the Councils 
Acquisitions and Disposals Policy. 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



In relation to the KPI ‘Progress strategic green infrastructure and biodiversity 
projects and encourage environmental volunteering’ members enquired about 
the status on the Northside non-statutory allotments. 
It was explained issues were still being worked through with the two remaining 
tenants. 
 
Members also asked what was the plan for the Water Environment Grant?.  
Officers agreed to get a response from the relevant team on what options were 
available for moving forward. 
 
In relation to the Maryport Regeneration Programme members asked for an 
update on the plans, in particular following the change around the Empire Yard 
project and on contingencies in relation to increasing costs. 
 
Officers provided the following response ‘although the scheme will not be 
progressing as originally planned it is proposed to continue with the planned 
acquisition of the land at the centre of the scheme with the aim of creating an 
open accessible space that can be used for parking, markets, and access. The 
council may need to resort to Compulsory Purchase to acquire the land. It is 
also important to say that the funding element for the Empire Yard will not be 
lost from the Maryport programme. 
Every Future High Street scheme in the country has been affected by an 
increase in construction costs. By amending the scope of the Empire Yard 
project this will release funding and ensure that key projects including, The 
Carlton, The Wave, Christchurch and public realm will still be delivered to a high 
standard’. 
 
In relation to KPI ‘Complete the commission for the Gypsy and Traveller 
Accommodation Assessment and evaluate the outcome against the site 
allocation in Local Plan Part 2’, members asked what the plan was now that the 
draft report had been received. 
 
It was explained that from the Assessment report it was clear that a single site 
would not address the accommodation issues currently being experienced in 
Workington therefore, the Council had commissioned a further study from the 
same company to go back and look at what other solutions could work and be 
accepted in our area. It was hoped that piece of work could be completed in a 
couple of months and therefore Scrutiny asked for the item to be included in the 
next years’ work programme for consideration. 
 
Agreed 
 
Members noted the contents of the report. 
 

430. Quarter 3 Finance Update Report  
 
The Finance update report for quarter three was noted. 
 

431. Affordable Housing Scheme Policy  
 
The Housing Manager provided the Committee with a verbal presentation on a 
review of the Councils Affordable Housing Scheme Policy documents. 

Page 4



A review had been carried out to streamline current policies, provide 
consistency and formalise the Council guidance as a policy document. 
All draft documents had been sent to key stakeholders for feedback. 
 
Once the consultation exercise had closed on 25 March 2022 the draft 
documents were to be considered for adoption by the Executive on 20 April 
2022. 
 
Agreed 
 
That the update presentation and draft documents be noted. 
 

432. Feedback reports from Scrutiny Outside Bodies  
 
The Committee noted update reports for the Council representatives who sat on 
the following outside bodies: Cumbria Health Scrutiny Committee, Cumbria 
Police and Crime Panel Joint Committee and the West Cumbria Site 
Stakeholders Group. 
 
It was noted that a report had not been received on the Local Enterprise 
Partnership Scrutiny Board. 
 

433. Verbal Update on Local Government Reorganisation  
 
The Assistant Chief Executive (Policy, Performance and Economic Strategy) 
provided an update on the current position in relation to Local Government 
Reorganisation. 
 
The Structural Changes Order (SCO) had now passed through Parliament and 
had been signed by the Minister today 18 March 2022 which meant it was now 
in force. 
The SCO sets out the process of creating the two new councils and provided 
the legal basis on which to implement the change to local government 
structures. It confirms the details and puts them into law. 
 
It was also noted that the first meeting of the Cumberland Joint Committee was 
now confirmed to take place on 30 March 2022, with two further dates pencilled 
in if required on 14 April and 12 May. 
 

434. Forward Plan  
 
The forward plan was noted. 
 

435. Work Programme and Outcomes Monitoring  
 
The Chair reviewed the work programme and provided the following  

- The Culture and Leisure Provision TFG was on track to report back to 
Committee in April, 

- The Community Leadership and Engagement TFG also on track to report 
back in April, 

Page 5



- The Young People and Corporate Parenting TFG for various reasons 
had not been able to meet therefore this work was to be moved on to the 
work programme for 2022-23, 

- The Public Value item was also to be moved on to the 2022-23 
programme. 

 
Members were reminded of an upcoming informal session arranged for 24 
March to begin discussions on work programme items for the next year. 
 
Following a request sent out to the wider Council membership for suggested 
items for consideration one suggestion had been made, which was to look at 
the issue around the shortage of GPs in Workington.  
The Committee members agreed to include that item on the draft list and also to 
include dentists. 
 

436. Task and Finish Group/Working Group Updates  
 
An update on the current TFGs was provided in the previous item. 
 

The meeting closed at 3.07 pm 
 

Page 6



West Cumbria Community Safety Partnership   end March 2022 

 

Overall Situation 

The Community Safety Partnership (West) continues to meet on quarterly basis.  As a 
result of the Covid-19 restrictions, all of our recent meetings have taken place virtually.  
Attendance by partners has been very good during this time presumably because there 
has been no need to include journey time for members. 

A CSP co-ordinator was employed for six months between April and September 2021. 
Although an option to extend the contract was offered, it was declined.  However, in the 
short time that the co-ordinator was in post, considerable progress was made in terms of 
renewing the Action Plan and updating the Partnership’s list of contacts. 

We learned last year that all remaining funding of the three Cumbrian CSPs by the Police 
and Crime Commissioner (PCC) would cease with effect from the end of September 2021, 
including the co-ordinator’s salary. 

It was agreed that the co-ordinator role should be retained and funded from the 
Partnership’s own reserves.  However, advertisements circulated to staff at both Allerdale 
and Copeland councils failed to produce any candidates, probably due to existing 
workload pressures. 

Despite the lack of any external funding, there appears to be general consensus that the 
CSP should continue until Local Government Reorganisation on 1st April 2023, as the only 
alternative would be to leave a void for twelve months. 

The CSP has survived and functioned well without a co-ordinator since March 2020, taking 
full advantage of the brief interval during 2021 when the post was temporarily filled. 

Sufficient reserves remain for the CSP to continue to have a positive effect within the 
community. This will hopefully take us to the point where the Shadow Authorities will 
decide how the CSP’s current functions will be delivered in future and towards a smooth 
transition thereafter. 

The CSP’s statutory duties in respect of Domestic Homicide Reviews (DHRs) remain in 
place. 

Copeland and Allerdale councils are working closely together already as part of the same 
CSP.  The CSP (North) has been contacted with a view to harmonising our activities with 
those currently taking place in Carlisle as we move towards the merging of the three 
Councils into a single Unitary Authority. 

The CSP Chair has a monthly scheduled meeting with the managers of the Allerdale and 
Copeland Local Focus Hubs. 
 
Over the Past Year, We Have… 

Received regular updates at CSP meetings from: 

 The Allerdale and Copeland Local Focus Hubs 
 The Constabulary 
 Allerdale and Copeland Councils 
 Registered Housing Providers 

  

Page 7

Agenda Item 6



We have also listened to presentations from: 

 Independent Offender Management (IOM) North West Refresh Team 
 

 Producers of a Cumbria wide Serious Violence Needs Assessment 
 

 Specialists in Prevent/Counter Terrorism 

 PCC Officer on the Safer Streets Fund 

 Cumbria County Council Commissioning Officer on Gambling Harms in the 
Community 

 Providers of Drug and Alcohol Addiction Services following Change of Provider in 
October 2021 

 

The invitation to Humankind, the new provider of drug and alcohol services commissioned 
by Cumbria County Council, to attend the CSP’s March meeting was in response to 
concerns expressed by both hub managers, as well as a social housing provider, that the 
transition from the former service provider had not gone well. 

This is a good example of the CSP being well placed to respond to issues raised by 
partners. 

  

Successes have included… 

 The Partnership working alongside officers of the PCC on applications to the 
Government’s Safer Streets Fund.  This has resulted in £311,358 being allocated 
for a project in St Michaels, Workington, designed to lower the burglary rate with the 
secondary benefit of reducing anti-social behaviour, thus increasing the perception 
of safety for residents. 
  

 It was announced in October that a bid in respect of the Castle Park area of 
Whitehaven had also been successful, a total of £191,584 having been awarded 
with a particular focus on the Government’s current initiative to end Violence 
Against Women and Girls. 
  
There are three elements to the Whitehaven bid. The first is to improve safety in 
Castle Park with increased lighting after dark and CCTV. As the park is in close to 
proximity to the leisure centre, this will create more opportunities for outdoor 
activities in a safe setting with clear benefits for the health and wellbeing of 
residents. 
  
The project also includes a dedicated media campaign to raise public awareness 
about the issue of Violence Against Women and Girls. 
  
Active bystander training is planned for a range of target audiences including 
schools, youth groups, taxi drivers, publicans and door staff. 
 

 The CSP is currently supporting a new bid to the Safer Streets Fund targeting anti-
social behaviour in Maryport. 
 

Page 8



 

  
 Work has continued with Moorclose Connected Communities to wrap up the 

UCLAN led project, originally funded by the Partnership.  We now await the 
evidenced report to demonstrate how the project delivered support to the 
community during the pandemic. 

  

Over the Past Year, the CSP has approved the following funding applications… 

 Allerdale and Copeland Local Focus Hubs for Active Bystander Training.  In the 
Whitehaven area, the costs of this training are already covered by the Safer Streets 
Fund.  However, the hub managers have recognised the benefits of extending the 
programme across the rest of Copeland and Allerdale. 

 North Allerdale Development Trust (NADT) for additional staff hours and IT 
equipment to facilitate the educational programme for harder to reach young 
people. 

 A Safe Place to improve youth provision in Workington and Maryport 
 Allerdale and Copeland Local Focus Hubs to provide taxi marshals on key dates 

over the Christmas period in both Workington and Whitehaven. 
 Youth Violence Project to understand young people’s perceptions of knife crime and 

violence across the whole of West Cumbria. 

 

Domestic Homicide Reviews (DHRs) 

CSP remains the statutory body with the oversight of Domestic Homicide Reviews in West 

Cumbria. 

There are currently eight current DHRs in West Cumbria. 

The Dearham Review was led by the NHS and has been completed and submitted to the 

Home Office. Towards the end of 2021, the review was returned to the authors with a 

number of changes recommended by the Home Office’s Quality Assurance Panel. Some 

of the recommendations were considered to be unreasonable. Following a meeting with 

the authors, the CSP chair agreed to support a challenge. On 28th March we received 

notification that the latest version of the review has been accepted by the Home Office.  

Therefore the full review is expected to be published imminently 

The Egremont Review has been submitted to the Home Office and was returned with 

significant recommended changes before it had reached the Quality Assurance Panel. 

This Review had been carried out by an inexperienced Independent Chair. The DHR 

Coordinator for Cumbria has suggested that the report shall be passed to a more 

experienced Chair who will consider the recommendations and implement them as 

appropriate. 

The Keswick Review has been submitted to the Home Office and was returned with some 

recommended changes before it had reached the Quality Assurance Panel. The 

Independent Chair has incorporated some of the suggested changes and has resubmitted 

the report with an explanation as to why some of the recommendations were considered 

unreasonable. 

Page 9



The Salterbeck Review has been running parallel to court proceedings.  Now that the 

perpetrator has been convicted and sentenced, work can begin on the final draft of the 

report.  Victim Support are in close contact with the family. 

The Cleator Moor Review is progressing well now that the Independent Chair has 

recovered from Covid.  The final draft of the review is expected to be presented to the CSP 

imminently prior to submission to the Home Office. 

The Gosforth case is being treated as an Adult Safeguarding Review. 

Two new cases have been referred to the CSP since the beginning of the year.  One of 

these has significant crossover with Adult Safeguarding.  Therefore, care must be taken 

that, if two investigations are to take place, they will support each other. The second falls 

within the remit of DHR as it is a suspected suicide resulting from domestic abuse/violence 

which is a new category of DHR. 

 

The DHR Co-ordinator for Cumbria has commented that the early return of completed 

DHRs, with recommended changes, is not unique to Cumbria and could be linked to 

procedural changes at the Home Office. 

Page 10



Information request from Overview and Scrutiny Meeting 16/07/21 on the 
management of The Hub  
 
 
 
The Hub facilitates collaboration between several partner agencies, key partners are 
Allerdale Borough Council and Cumbria Constabulary and is based in Allerdale 
House, other partners include local housing providers; district council teams such as 
environmental health, housing and licensing; Cumbria Fire and Rescue Service; 
NHS organisations; and Cumbria County Council. Voluntary sector partners include 
mental health groups, and drug and alcohol services. 
  
Day to day management of the hub is included as part of the duties of the Allerdale 
Borough Council Community Safety and Resilience Manager and fits well within the 
role which is responsible for the Allerdale Borough Council Enforcement team and 
the Inclusion and Diversity Officer.  
  
Any partner agency can refer a complex incident or issue into the Hub that would 
benefit from a partnership approach. By pooling local knowledge and expertise, 
patterns can be identified, and the response can be quick and efficient, bringing 
partners together to provide effective early intervention.   
  
The Hub approach works well through sharing information and by focusing the 
strengths of different agencies on issues to be able to deliver interventions that are 
appropriate, efficient, and effective. 
 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12



 

 

Allerdale Borough Council 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 22 April 2022 

Climate Change Action Plan update 

 

Portfolio holder Councillor Marion Fitzgerald - Policy, Governance and 
People Resources Portfolio 

Report from Climate Change Advisory Group - Cllr Sally Lansbury, 
Chair 

Wards affected All 

Is this a key decision No 
 

 

1.0  The reason for the decision 

1.1 The Climate Change Action Plan as agreed by Executive on 21 April 2021 has now 
been updated. 

2.0  Recommendations 

2.1 That Overview and Scrutiny Committee note the progress being made and the 
updates proposed to the Action Plan. 

3.0  Background and Introduction 

3.1 At its 4 March 2020 meeting Council agreed that a Climate Change Group be 
established to further develop the Council’s Climate Change Action Plan (CCAP) 
and work on its implementation. It was agreed that the Climate Change Group 
would have responsibility for publishing an annual progress report to Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, and that any future updates should be approved by Executive. 

3.2 The Group sits within the work area of Policy, Performance and Economic   

 Development Strategy and receives administrative support from advisers within this 

 unit. The Portfolio Holder is Deputy Leader of the Council, Cllr Marion  

 Fitzgerald (Conservative) and the group is Chaired by Cllr Sally Lansbury (Labour). 

 The group currently has six members. 

3.3 The CCAP is presented annually to Executive and to Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. 

Page 13

Agenda Item 7



 

 

3.4 The CCAP is structured to shadow the Local Government Association (LGA) and 
Association of Directors of Environment, Economy, Planning & Transport (ADEPT) 
programme areas: 

 Economy Skills and Infrastructure 

 Refitting Homes and Buildings 

 Decarbonisation of Transport 

 Planning to develop Zero Carbon development 

 Reducing Waste and encouraging sustainable consumption 

 Restoring nature for all and improving biodiversity (also referred to as 
LULUCF) 

 Funding, Governance and Accounting 

3.5 The Climate Change Advisory Group has a small budget to support its work. To 

date £10.9k has been allocated (in partnership with Cumbria Action for 

Sustainability) to support community group projects with their carbon reduction 

ambitions and around £4,000 to training of officers and elected members in Climate 

Science and Solutions (around 60 people to date). The training courses have been 

well received by both officers and members and more sessions are planned to take 

place in the next financial year. 

4.0 Progress, key achievements and areas for improvement 

4.1 The Group has achieved the immediate priorities established at Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee in January 2021. These and other areas of progress include: 

 Continuous improvements to Allerdale Borough Council website. The Climate 
Change Strategy and Action Plan have been published for some time. There 
are regular updates on waste and recycling – most recently the updates to 
bulky waste advice and waste advice promotions that link in with the Recycle 
Cumbria campaigns. 

 Establishing a regular schedule of meetings with internal and external 
stakeholders – Cumbria Green Investment Plan, Cumbria Action for 
Sustainability (CAfS), Parks and Opens Spaces Officer, Planning Team, 
Waste Team, Procurement Team, REBUILD initiative, Sustainable Keswick 
and Climate Emergency West Cumbria groups;  

 Establishing a prioritised activity programme, split into work areas that link to 
the ADEPT and LGA framework; 

 Regular presentations from external stakeholders and meetings of this cross 
party group to ensure that the work programme is delivered;  

 Climate Literacy Training – delivered to around 60 officers and members, this 
has had an impact on individuals and teams; 

 Work by the procurement team, in particular, following the climate literacy 
training to further embed climate considerations into the Council’s policy and 
procedures around procurement including training to support officers; 

 Work with CAfS to develop a grants scheme for Allerdale community groups 
seeking to reduce their energy emissions and make environmental 
improvements; 

Page 14



 

 

 We have a communications strategy supported by the Communications team 
and an environmental newsletter with 3000+ subscribers. 

 We have prepared robust consultation responses for: 

o Transport For the North Decarbonisation Strategy 
o Cumbria Transport Infrastructure Plan 
o Community Resilience Strategy 
o Cumbria Green Investment Plan 
o Workington Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 

 Tree planting and meadow creation in our communities is moving on a pace 
and we will continue to influence that through our parish councils and 
community groups; 

 We have created communications networks with Electricity North West (ENW), 
Cumbria Local Enterprise Partnership (CLEP), Zero Carbon Cumbria 
Partnership (ZCCP), CAfS, town and parish councils and community groups. 

4.2 The Council is top of the league of Cumbrian local authorities in terms of the 
information available to the public regarding its Climate Change Action Plan. 
(Source: Climate Emergency UK, January 2022).  This achievement was reported 
widely in local and national media – we see this assessment as a good result – and 
an opportunity for further improvement. 

4.3 The Group has also identified a number of areas for improvement: 

 Whilst our engagement with community groups and parish councils is good, 
there are some gaps - we have not fully achieved our aims of engaging with 
schools or the farming community, although our partner organisation ZCCP is 
now starting to develop these links. 

 Engagement with many Council officers is strong, however, not everyone is 
involved and engaged at the same level – climate change action should run 
through all department’s policy, strategy and activity if we are to achieve our 
targets. It is positive that climate change considerations appear at the heart of 
the local government reorganisation programme as a cross cutting theme. 

 Communication of the work programme could be improved – we intend to 
bolster our messages through further bulletins from the Communications team. 

 Pathways need to be found, in order to address the climate impacts of 
corporate finance, investments, governance and accounting. This may involve 
reviewing where funds are held, but also municipal bonds and support for 
Community Interest Companies as a means of raising finance for new industry 
and projects that reduce emissions and wasted energy. 

5.0 Opportunities and priorities for 2022/23 

5.1 From May onwards, we will be holding focus groups in each of the work areas – this 
will involve members, officers and external stakeholders. 

5.2 We will work with the ZCCP Local Authority Coordinating Officer, with Copeland 
Borough Council, Carlisle City Council and Cumbria County Council to align targets 
for 2023 and beyond in order that the new authority has a clear strategy moving 
forward. 

Page 15



 

 

5.3 We will focus on steering the Shadow Authority towards banking and insurance 
companies that invest only in Climate Positive funds; committing to contracting only 
with renewable energy suppliers and ensuring that all strategy and policy 
documents and HR specifications, include targets relating to Cumberland’s targets 
to Net Zero by 2037. 

5.4 We will support our planning and procurement teams to ensure they have portfolio 
holder and SMT support in introducing new policies and guidelines. 

5.5 We will continue to work with partners including ENW, Rural Community Energy 
Fund, the Energy Hub and partners such as Charge my Street on decarbonisation 
of transport – both at ground level regarding adoption of an Electric Vehicle Charge 
Point Strategy and at a higher level on the potential for hydrogen production and the 
future decarbonisation of the M6 corridor. 

5.6 We will explore opportunities to take action on decarbonisation of council buildings 
and operations. 

5.7 There will be continued improvements to website information on energy and 
residual waste via the ABC website and ancillary communications. 

5.8 There will be continuing support for community groups to develop their own projects 
through the Community Climate Grants Scheme, in partnership with CAfS. 

5.9 The Group also intend to work with our farming community to ensure opportunities 
for Agri Forestry, Agri Volataics, Regenerative farming methods are developed.  
With new legislation and changed subsidies – there are climate positive actions that 
the farming community now have the opportunity to explore. 

Constraints 

5.10 The Group recognise that there is further work to do on our communication and 
engagement in some areas.  The disturbing effects of Covid-19 on members 
personal and work lives along with the uncertainties of Local Government 
Reorganisation, internal re-organisation and home working brought challenges in 
policy and project development.   We expect this to improve now that things are 
settling back to a more steady state. 

5.11 The Climate Change Advisory group represents a new type of member 
working/advisory group for the council.  This has presented some challenges in 
terms of reporting lines as the group reports to Executive through the portfolio 
holder rather than to Council. The commitment of all members of the group, 
including the portfolio holder has meant that these challenges have not proved 
insurmountable, however, the shape and role of any member working group in the 
future is something that the new unitary authority may want to consider. 

6.0 Key updates to the Allerdale Borough Council Climate Change Action Plan 

6.1 Some updates have been made to the CCAP.  In the main these are updates to the 
narrative sections of the CCAP, some minor changes have also been made to the 
actions to mark a few activities as complete and show the progress being made in 
other areas.  In updating the CCAP the Climate Change Advisory Group have: 

Page 16



 

 

 included updated information from the IPCC and the recommendations from 
COP 26; 

 reviewed the assessment from Climate Emergency UK and feedback from 
members, stakeholders and officers and edited some narrative within the 
document in line with new science and vocabulary;  

 reviewed the action plans from other Cumbria local authorities; 

 introduced a co-benefits section linking to example scenarios; 

 considered the recommendations of the Copeland and Kendal Citizens Panels; 

 added an additional appendix to show linkages across key council policies and 
strategies which incorporate climate positive action and the route to net zero 
emissions for Cumbria. 

7.0  Delivery arrangements 

7.1 The Climate Change Advisory Group will oversee the implementation of the plan by 
working with officers and through sub-groups consisting of councillors in the group 
around each theme focusing on the detailed delivery. 

7.2  Direct responsibility for delivery will be with the specific services. 

7.3 The Climate Change Advisory Group is clear that the Council can only be 
responsible for its own actions and activities and all other aspects will need to be 
achieved through influence and partnership. 

8.0 Implications and Impact 

8.1 Contribution to Council Strategy Priorities, Outputs and Outcomes  

The action plan contributes directly to the Council Strategy.  The action plan links 
strongly to the ‘Cleaner, Greener Allerdale’ theme within the Council Strategy, but 
also links to the Resilient Communities and Thriving Towns and Villages themes.  
More broadly the action plan also strongly supports the Cumbria Joint Public Health 
Strategy. 

8.2 Finance/Resource implications 

While there are cost implications within the plan, these are fundamentally around 
shifts in ‘business as usual’ approaches. 

Specific projects will be individually costed once developed. Any proposals 
emerging from action planning that would require additional resources will be 
subject to the usual Council decision making processes. 

Central government has a series of programmes to support local authorities to 
address the implementation of changes needed to meet its targets. It is likely that 
the Council will need to develop its preparedness to access these funds over the 
coming months. 

8.3 Legal and governance implications  

There are no legal or governance implications directly associated with this report. 
Government legislation and support to develop solutions to meet legislative 
requirements continue to be created and issued. 

Page 17



 

 

8.4 Risk analysis 

Risk Consequence Controls required 
Mitigated 
score 

The Council does 
not achieve the 
aims of the plan. 

Loss of public and 
government confidence 
in the Council. 
 

Regular monitoring 
as part of the internal 
performance 
management 
process. 
Annual assessment 
of progress made 
available to 
stakeholders. 

Low 

8.5 Increasing satisfaction and service 

The overall subject of climate change currently has a national and international 
prominence and there is clearly a strong interest locally from a number of groups 
and individuals in the activities the Council will pursue to achieve its goals. 

8.6 Equality impacts 

The Action Plan and the process of its development sought to involve a range of 
interested parties, and the comments received from the public include some which 
are more concerned to ensure specific groups are included in the Council’s 
intended actions, for example bus users, young people, cyclists, and tourists. 
Equality impacts are considered in the development of individual projects and 
programmes. 

8.7 Health and Safety impacts 

There are no health and safety implications directly associated with this report. 

8.8 Health, wellbeing and community safety impacts 

Achieving the ambitions of the action plan is intended to have long term positive 
benefits for all. 

8.9 Environmental/sustainability impacts 

Achieving the ambitions of the action plan will have long term positive benefits for 
sustainability and the environment. 

8.10 Other significant implications 

Achieving the ambitions of the action plan will contribute to achievement of the 
government targets and Sustainable Development Goals. 

Appendices attached to this report 

Appendix number Title of appendix 

Appendix A Allerdale Borough Council Climate Change Action Plan March 
2022 update  

Page 18



 

 

Background documents available 

Name of background document Where it is available 

  

  

Report author(s) and contact officer(s): 
Cllr Sally Lansbury 
Chair, Climate Change Advisory Group 
sally.lansbury@allerdale.gov.uk 
 
Alex FitzGerald 
Strategic Advisor – Corporate  
alex.fitzgerald@allerdale.gov.uk  
 

Page 19

mailto:sally.lansbury@allerdale.gov.uk
mailto:alex.fitzgerald@allerdale.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 20



 

Allerdale Action Plan to Address Climate Change - April 2022 - page 1  
 

  

Action plan  
to address climate change  

 
April 2022 

 

“Improving lives and improving futures through sustainable action” 
 

Page 21



 

Allerdale Action Plan to Address Climate Change - April 2022 - page 2  
 

Introduction 
 

In March 2020, Allerdale Borough Council established a Climate Change Working Group with a 

series of tasks to address, including the development of this Climate Change Action Plan.   

The Group is a cross party group working group chaired by Cllr Sally Lansbury (Labour) and currently 

has six members. The relevant Portfolio Holder is currently the Deputy Leader of the Council, Cllr 

Marion Fitzgerald (Conservative) who also sits on the working group.  The Group is supported by 

officers from Policy, Performance and Economic Development Strategy. 

This action plan is intended as a living document which will be annually reviewed and updated by 

this Council’s Climate Change Working Group, in conjunction with adjacent local authorities and 

partners, including statutory, voluntary and community organisations. 

The motion adopted by this Council to address climate change set targets to ensure emissions from 

its estate and activities are net zero carbon by 2030. At the same time the Council is committed to 

the Zero Carbon Cumbria Partnership and its target for the whole county by 2037, and policies will 

be put in place for the Council to achieve the Government’s net zero target of 2050. 

‘Net Zero’ is a situation where the GHG emissions go into the atmosphere are balanced by their 

removal from the atmosphere. There are five key greenhouse gasses, carbon dioxide, methane, 

nitrous oxide, water vapour and fluorinated gasses. In this climate change action plan, we 

concentrate on carbon emissions as they are the highest concentration, representing around 80% 

of GHG emissions - they have a high impact as they remain in the atmosphere for thousands of 

years. It is possible to have a positive impact upon this situation, both by reducing future emissions 

and by capturing existing carbon stored in the atmosphere to reduce global overheating. There are 

both natural and scientific solutions for carbon capture. 

This Council has a vision for a low carbon future and addresses climate change concerns within all 

key Council services.  The Council can make positive impacts through the quality of the 

environment, housing, planning decisions, choice of transport use, energy savings and reducing 

carbon emissions. Whilst local authority emissions generally represent 2 to 5% of total local 

emissions through their own activities, local authorities also potentially influence around a third of 

an area’s emissions through place shaping, partnerships and leadership (‘So you’ve declared a 

climate emergency: what next?’ APSE 20211).  The action plan therefore covers both the Council’s 

operations and wider community activity where the Council will need to work through partnerships 

and collaboration. 

This Council’s Action Plan to Address Climate Change is grouped in sections as proposed in the 

recommendations of ‘A blueprint for accelerating climate action and a green recovery at the local 

level’2 (developed by a number of national organisations led by ADEPT). These section headings are: 

 Growing the Zero and Low Carbon Economy 

 Retrofitting homes and buildings to reduce consumption and emissions 

 Decarbonising transport 

                                                           
1 So you’ve declared a climate emergency: what next? APSE 2021  
2 A blueprint for accelerating climate action and a green recovery at the local level 

Page 22

https://www.apse.org.uk/apse/index.cfm/research/current-research-programme/
https://www.adeptnet.org.uk/documents/blueprint-accelerating-climate-action-and-green-recovery-local-level


 

Allerdale Action Plan to Address Climate Change - April 2022 - page 3  
 

 Planning to deliver Zero Carbon development that protects and enhances nature 

 Reducing waste and encouraging sustainable consumption 

 Restoring nature for all 

 Developing local authority funding, governance and accounting systems that are fit for 

purpose. 

These themes also closely link to the Council Strategy 2020-20303 and the Cumbria Joint Public 

Health and Wellbeing Strategy (2019-2029)4.   

This action plan has been developed across political parties within the Council.  Each section is led 

by different Council members according to their own areas of knowledge and special interest who 

work as task groups within the Climate Change Advisory Group.   

The action plan is a ‘live’ document and will develop over time. The structure is created to enable 

new actions to be easily added to the numbering system. Completed actions will remain included in 

the published plan and will be noted as completed.   

All Climate Action Plans were audited by Climate Emergency UK in January 20225.  The Council’s 

action plan scored well and has taken on board areas for improvement identified in that 

assessment.  For example, a section on co-benefits has been included in this updated version. 

The process of Local Government Reorganisation in Cumbria will see the existing 7 local authorities 

abolished in April 2023 and the formation of two new Unitary Authorities Cumberland Council in 

the west and Westmorland and Furness Council in the east.    

A climate change work package has been established for the transition to the new unitary 

authorities with climate change activity sitting as a theme at the heart of the LGR programme.  Over 

forthcoming months, we anticipate a consolidation exercise with our neighbouring authorities in 

order to consolidate existing action plans into one, sharing best practice and establishing priorities. 

Further work is needed to carry out detailed appraisals of baseline data and data collection 

guidelines.  Some of our actions and targets will change in line with new acts of Parliament and bills 

currently progressing through the system such as the Decarbonisation and Economic Strategy Bill 

and the Climate and Ecology Bill.   

We will continue to engage with our communities across the authority, to take positive action to 

address what is arguably the most difficult, but most important, challenge of our age. 

 

  

                                                           
3 Allerdale Borough Council Council Strategy 2020-2030 
4 Cumbria Joint Public Health Strategy 2019 
5 See Climate Emergency UK Local Authority Scorecards 

Page 23

https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/about-council/council-strategy-2020-2030/
https://councilportal.cumbria.gov.uk/documents/s90839/Appendix%201%20CCC%201104%20-%20Cumbrias%20Joint%20Public%20Health%20Strategy.pdf
https://councilclimatescorecards.uk/


 

Allerdale Action Plan to Address Climate Change - April 2022 - page 4  
 

Strategic context  

Global impacts of climate change 

The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change states in their Physical Science Basis Summary for 

Policymakers (Feb 2021)6 that it is now unequivocal that human influence has warmed the 

atmosphere, oceans and land.  Widespread changes in the atmosphere, cryosphere and biosphere 

have occurred. 

Governments around the world at COP26 concluded that ‘rapid deep and sustained reductions’ in 

greenhouse gas emissions are required.  This includes a phasing down of coal power and a phasing 

out of fossil fuel subsidies. Through the Glasgow Climate Pact of November 2021, world leaders 

committed to take action to keep a rise in global temperatures this century well below 1.5°C above 

pre-industrial levels.  

 

Figure 1 “Warming stripes” – based on the global annual average temperatures 1850-2020 
Source: www.climate-lab-book.ac.uk 

The ‘warming stripes’ illustration at Figure 1 represents how the average temperatures globally 

have increased over the last 170 years, using the blue colours for cooler temperatures from the 

1850s and reds for more warmer temperatures. Increasing concentrations of greenhouse gases in 

the atmosphere over the last 200 years have trapped more energy (infrared radiation/radiant 

energy) in the lower atmosphere, heating our climate.   

As well as the predicted temperature rise, we are experiencing changing rainfall, more stormy 

weather and more extreme weather events. The melting of polar ice caps will lead to an increase in 

sea levels and extensive flooding of low-lying areas of land. It has also been predicted that in future 

centuries the Gulf Stream may slow down and result in dramatic cooling of Northwest Europe. 

Predicted global impacts include flooding, drought, increased disease, famine, climate refugees and 

conflict or war caused by water or food shortages.  

Two overall strategies can help address these issues: mitigation and adaptation: 

Mitigation – this refers to actions that reduce human contribution to the causes of climate change. 

This means reducing our emissions of greenhouse gases, such as carbon dioxide (CO2), through 

energy efficiency and using alternative forms of transport and energy. 

Mitigation is important in the long term as it is only by reducing our greenhouse gas emissions that 

we can hope to minimise human-induced climate change. Many of the measures to help reduce 

emissions may also have other benefits such as saving money and encouraging a more sustainable 

society. 

                                                           
6 IPCC Sixth Assessment Report 

Page 24

https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg1/


 

Allerdale Action Plan to Address Climate Change - April 2022 - page 5  
 

Adaptation - addresses the impacts and opportunities resulting from a changing climate. 

Irrespective of the success of mitigation efforts, there will still be some degree of unavoidable 

climate change. This stems from our historic greenhouse gas emissions and the persistence of these 

gases in the atmosphere. 

The national context 

The Climate Change Act 2008 is the basis for the UK’s approach to tackling and responding to 

climate change.  It commits the UK government by law to reducing greenhouse gas emissions by at 

least 100% of 1990 levels (net zero) by 2050 across all sectors. This Act was amended in May 2019 

following recommendations by the Committee on Climate Change (CCC) that the UK government 

brings forward legislation to reach net-zero3 greenhouse gas emissions by the year 2050. The UK 

Net Zero Strategy for 2050 was published in 2021, covering a number of areas including: 

decarbonisation of the economy; green Jobs and skills; local climate action; and, empowering the 

public and business to make green choices. The Strategy also commits to setting clearer 

expectations on how central and local government interact in the delivery of Net Zero. 

The Environment Act 2021 places obligations on central government to set targets relating to air 

quality, biodiversity, water and resource efficiency and waste reduction – local government has an 

important role to play in supporting these targets. The Act also sets ambitious aims to tackle waste, 

increase recycling, halt the decline of species, and improve our natural environment. 

In 2019, net UK emissions of greenhouse gasses were estimated to be 454.8 million tonnes of carbon 

dioxide equivalent (MtCO2E) mainly through burning coal, oil and gas for energy. Source BEIS Feb 

2021) 

The Climate Change Committee (an independent non-departmental public body, formed under the 

Climate Change Act 2008 to advise the United Kingdom and devolved Governments and 

Parliaments on tackling and preparing for climate change) has advised that the UK government sets 

its Sixth Carbon Budget (i.e. the legal limit for UK emissions of greenhouse gases over the years 

2033-37) to require a reduction in UK emissions of 78% by 2035 relative to 1990 levels, a 63% 

reduction from 2019 as an appropriate contribution to the UK’s Net-Zero target. In England, there is 

no overall plan on how local authorities fit into delivering Net Zero although the Climate and 

Ecology Bill seeks to address this. 

Over half of the UK’s emissions cuts are dependent on purchasing decisions, behaviours and habits 

of individuals, businesses and organisations. 

Local authorities are currently constrained by a lack of detailed benchmarking information, 
government targets and clear trajectories for decarbonising activities for energy, buildings, 
transport and land use. Hence this Action Plan will need to be regularly reviewed as targets, 
pathways and funding streams are created.  

Local context 

In April 2019, all Cumbrian local authorities and the Lake District National Park Authority formally 

adopted the Cumbria Joint Public Health Strategy7 incorporating a pledge for Cumbria, “to become a 

                                                           
7 Cumbria Joint Public Health Strategy 2019  

Page 25

https://councilportal.cumbria.gov.uk/documents/s90839/Appendix%201%20CCC%201104%20-%20Cumbrias%20Joint%20Public%20Health%20Strategy.pdf


 

Allerdale Action Plan to Address Climate Change - April 2022 - page 6  
 

‘carbon neutral’ County and to mitigate the likely impact of existing climate change”.  

The Joint Cumbria Public Health Strategy 2019 provides the following priority areas which are 

addressed in Allerdale’s Climate Change Action Plan: 

Green Spaces and Biodiversity 

The co-benefits of protecting nature sites and creating new rich green space include better mental 

and physical health for local people, greater resilience to future climate change extremes and more 

resilient food production 

Some examples of local authority work in this action plan include: 

 Protection and restoration of nature through nature recovery strategies 

 Carbon sequestration through nature-based solutions such as restoring peatland, 

considerate land management and additional tree planting 

 Habitat restoration and green infrastructure growth 

 Wildflower verges become established 

 Reduction in pesticides used and changed mowing patterns 

Air Quality 

By supporting low carbon infrastructure and transport initiatives, Allerdale Borough Council can 

reduce resource use, reduce CO2e emissions and improve air quality.  Hence improving health and 

wellbeing of our residents and protecting the planet. 

Our action plan addresses air quality in its sections; ‘growing the low carbon economy’ and 

‘decarbonising transport’ 

 Support development of safe walking and cycle routes 

 Rapid transition to low carbon vehicle in our fleets and EV charging points for our 

communities 

 Developing interventions that reduce the need to travel 

 Promote awareness of emissions from coal fires and wood burning stoves 

Climate Change 

Slowing, stopping and then removing the greenhouse gases from our atmosphere is an ambitious 

target – achievable only with joined up thinking and commitment across all areas of local 

government and our communities. Local Councils are an indispensable partner in reaching the 

national target of net zero by 2050. 

 Seek funding and partnership activities to support re-skilling, retraining and local research 

 Work with partners on promotion of retrofitting properties to reduce energy use and 

emissions 

 Supporting partnerships to bring green jobs to Allerdale 

Waste reduction 

We cannot easily recycle our way out of the strain on natural resources and the quantity of waste 

that is currently produced locally.  New solutions to reduce single-use items and unnecessary 

products that soon end up as waste are needed. 

 Awareness campaigns to lead to minimisation of residual waste 

Page 26



 

Allerdale Action Plan to Address Climate Change - April 2022 - page 7  
 

 Promote re-use and recycling initiatives 

 Create additional recyclate streams to use waste as a resource 

 PR Campaigns to raise awareness of possibilities 

 Look at our own procurement policies to ensure that ‘whole life costs’ are considered in the 

value of products 

The Zero Carbon Cumbria Partnership (ZCCP) is working towards a zero carbon Cumbria by 2037. 

The ZCCP will run from September 2020 and provide the ‘step change’ needed to deliver 

decarbonisation over the following 12 years to 2037. The ZCCP has a programme linked to the Joint 

Public Health Strategy.  

The table at Appendix A shows further linkages between the Climate Action Plan and some of the 

Council’s key policies and strategies.  

Local impacts of climate change 

Climate change is a global issue which also has local impacts. By the end of the 21st century, all 

areas of the UK are projected to be warmer, more so in summer than in winter with hotter, dryer 

summer months, milder - wetter winters and a change in the pattern of extreme weather events 

becoming more frequent and intense. This projected temperature rise in the UK is consistent with 

future warming globally. By 2070, in the high emission scenario, this temperature range could 

increase from 0.9°C to 5.4°C in summer, and 0.7°C to 4.2°C in winter. 

In Cumbria, it is estimated that the average daily temperature will rise between 1 and 2 degrees by 

2050 and that summer rainfall will reduce by 15% but that winter rainfall will increase by between 

15% and 30%. The Allerdale area has experienced severe adverse flooding events over the last 

decade with millions being spent locally to adapt for possible future flooding events.   

Since the first Climate Change Action Plan was produced in 2021, we have experienced further 

severe storms which resulted in flooding, damage to property and transport infrastructure as well 

the loss of many hundreds of mature trees. 

The Council’s role  

Allerdale Borough Council is a district council whose services and functions include: planning and 

building control; waste collection services; environmental health, licensing; housing; economic 

development and regeneration. The Council also has powers over its own operations including 

Council property, buildings and staff and spending, procurement and investment. The Council can 

use its leadership role to influence the behaviour of stakeholders including businesses, residents 

and visitors to Allerdale.   

Page 27



 

Allerdale Action Plan to Address Climate Change - April 2022 - page 8  
 

Allerdale Borough Council’s role in partnerships and with the public, places us at the heart of the 

climate conversation and in developing and replicating local solutions. However, the Council alone 

cannot deliver our Carbon Neutral ambitions, systems-scale and holistic approaches are required at 

both a national and local level.  The diagram below illustrates the levers of influence that local 

authorities have. 

Figure 2 local authority levers of influence – the ‘onion diagram’ 

Source: Rachel Coxcoon at the Centre for Sustainable Energy 

 

Co-benefits of mitigating climate change 

The Fifth Assessment Report of the IPCC defines co-benefits as being “the positive effects that a 

policy or measure aimed at one objective might have on other objectives… co-benefits are also 

referred to as ancillary benefits”8.   

There are significant positive effects that Council policy aimed at one objective might have on other 

objectives.  The diagrams below give an example of how a climate-related policy, in this case 

improving the energy efficiency of UK housing stock, can help to break some of the vicious cycle of 

poverty. 

 

                                                           
8 See Imperial College London, Grantham Institute Briefing paper No 31, March 2019 

Direct control:  
Council’s own buildings, 
operations, travel and 

investments 

Procurement and Commissioning:  
all services and goods  

bought in 

Place shaping: using powers to  
control how development  

can occur 

Showcasing: demonstrating,  
promoting and rewarding good 

practice. Social norming. 

Convening: Bringing people together,  
supporting partnerships, co-ordinating efforts  

by other players 

Engaging: Effectively translating the global 

issue for local resonance, inspiring action and 

providing comprehensive civic leadership 

Page 28

https://www.imperial.ac.uk/media/imperial-college/grantham-institute/public/publications/briefing-papers/Co-benefits-of-climate-change-mitigation-in-the-UK.pdf


 

Allerdale Action Plan to Address Climate Change - April 2022 - page 9  
 

Figure 3a How the experience of living in poverty interacts with housing, health, education, work and the wider economy 

Source: Imperial College London, Grantham Institute Briefing paper No 31, March 2019 

  

Figure 3b How a climate change-related intervention (improving energy efficiency of the housing stock) can help to break 
some of the pernicious cycle of poverty outlined in figure 2a 

Source: Imperial College London, Grantham Institute Briefing paper No 31, March 2019 

Page 29



 

Allerdale Action Plan to Address Climate Change - April 2022 - page 10  
 

Other examples relevant to this action plan include: 

Transport 

Decarbonising the transport sector by making vehicles more fuel efficient and introducing electric 

and hydrogen powered vehicles, has the potential to considerably improve air quality, improve 

respiratory issues and consequently reduce strain on the NHS and improve wellbeing and 

productivity in adults and school children. 

Housing 

Improving housing through better insulation and energy options provides an opportunity to 

improve health, reduce fuel poverty and inequality. 

Diet 

Helping people to choose a low carbon diet (more vegetables and less red meat) will reduce the 

risks of cardiovascular disease, stroke and cancer. 

Green Spaces 

As well as absorbing CO2 – green spaces have an important role in the mental health of individual - 

those living closer to green spaces experience lower rates of anxiety and mood disorders 

 

What is Allerdale Borough Council already doing to tackle climate change? 
 

Growing a Zero and Low Carbon Economy – within its sphere of influence as a local authority we 

seek to influence around a third of the area’s emissions through place shaping, partnerships and 

leadership. The Council’s Procurement Strategy addresses the environment and sustainability in a 

purchasing context. Ongoing work with the other Cumbrian local authorities through EPiC (Effective 

Procurement in Cumbria) should help establish a consistent approach in helping to address climate 

change and support the local economy across Cumbria through sustainable procurement.  

The Council’s Economic Growth and Recovery Strategy recognises the potential for the area to 

succeed in the development of ‘green jobs’ over the coming years. 

Reducing consumption and emissions: Allerdale House was designed to be energy efficient though 

further improvements can be made. It is a legal requirement to display energy certificates in large 

public sector buildings. Audits for energy performance certificates are ongoing in relevant Council 

buildings. Council staff are encouraged to switch off computer equipment when not in use. Work to 

reduce fuel poverty is ongoing. Inspections on homes under the Housing Health and Safety Rating 

System to assess decent homes includes energy efficiency.  

Decarbonising transport: the staff travel policy requires staff to make efficient journeys and 

consider public transport. Close working with partners has led to an extensive cycle network in 

West Cumbria. The Council currently promotes a scheme to encourage staff to cycle to work. 

Electric vehicles have been recently purchased for some Council Services.  COVID19 has led to a 

change in travel and working patterns which has massively decreased road miles. Many of these 

adaptations will be retained for the future. 

 

Page 30



 

Allerdale Action Plan to Address Climate Change - April 2022 - page 11  
 

As tourism and visits to the Lake District evolves, the Council is working in collaboration with its 

partners to consider any challenges emerging through increased numbers of people visiting the 

area, particularly by car, whether electric or fuel driven. 

Decarbonising housing: The Council is part of a successful Cumbrian Consortium securing Green 

Homes Grant Local Authority Delivery Phase 3 and Home Upgrade Grants (HUGs)  which will bring 

funding into Allerdale to help decarbonise housing stock, improve energy efficiency  and address 

fuel poverty. The LAD3 funding aims to support in the region of one hundred on-gas grid homes 

whilst the HUGs funding will aim to deliver over one hundred homes that are off gas. 

Planning to deliver Zero Carbon development: the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets 

out that the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable 

development, which involves three overarching interdependent objectives – economic, social and 

environmental.  These objectives are delivered through the preparation and implantation of plans 

and the application of policies in the NPPF.  The environmental objective includes mitigating and 

adapting to climate change.  Section 14 of the NPPF relates specifically to meeting the challenge of 

climate change, flooding and coastal change.  Our Local Plan is consistent with the NPPF. 

Building Control are ensuring that new developments have appropriate thermal insulation as 

required by the current Building Regulations and are helping construction companies build 

environmentally-friendly homes. 

Reducing waste: Allerdale Borough Council is delivering a recycling rate of 36.5% (2022/21) with a 

particular focus on the diversion of biodegradable municipal waste that was previously sent to 

landfill, and contributed to greenhouse gases from the landfill site. Ongoing work with the Cumbria 

Strategic Waste Partnership assists in waste reduction and recycling.  

The recycling facilities for staff in Council offices in main offices include cans and bottles in addition 

to paper. The design and print tender specifications will include the need for use of recycled paper. 

Electronic versions of meeting papers are now the standard method of distribution. Old computer 

equipment is reused or recycled.   

Restoring nature: The Council’s AONB team manage the Solway Coast Area of Outstanding Natural 

Beauty (AONB). The Parks and Open Spaces team manages the Council’s two nature reserves at 

Harrington and Siddick Pond with help from community groups, and through an extensive 

programme for volunteers and education. The management plans for these areas are regularly 

reviewed to increase biodiversity, create carbon sinks and help slow run- off of water producing 

biodiversity and carbon capture co-benefits.  Other green infrastructure and biodiversity projects 

are being delivered across Allerdale including Workington Nature Partnership projects and 'Get 

Cumbria Buzzing’ projects.  

A Shoreline Management Plan for the Northwest of England and North Wales has been developed. 

This sets out the long-term direction for managing risk to our coastline. The Cumbria Coastal 

Strategy approved by all partners in 2021.  

Allerdale Borough Council is a partner in the successful bid to secure funding for the Cumbria 

Coastal Community Forest- an ambitious and exciting new initiative that will see thousands of new 

trees planted down the western coast of Cumbria and help bring people closer to nature. 

Page 31



 

Allerdale Action Plan to Address Climate Change - April 2022 - page 12  
 

Training and Engagement:  The Council has run several Carbon Literacy and Climate Science and 

solutions courses for both member and for officers – these have been well received and have 

expanded the conversations around climate issues.  Together with ZCCP, we are investigating other 

methods of engagement and possibilities such as independent ‘people’s panels’ which ensure that 

the Council gets input from a representative range of people and opinions. 

Community grants: A Community Climate Grants Fund has been established to help enable 

community groups to establish carbon reducing initiatives across the Borough. 

Baseline data and reporting on progress 

The Allerdale area emissions have been recently benchmarked through work commissioned by the 

Zero Carbon Cumbria Partnership and carried out by Small World Consulting, and summarised as 

part of a countywide profile in ‘A Carbon Baseline for Cumbria 2020’9 

The baseline report offers a trajectory to Net Zero Carbon Emissions for Cumbria: 

 

Figure 4 Net Zero by 2037 Trajectory, data and percentage reductions 

Source: A Carbon Baseline for Cumbria 2020, Small World Consulting   

Cumbria’s total production-based emissions for 2017 were 3.18 MtCO2 (Figure 5). This includes 

emissions from railways passing through the county, and removals from land use, such as through 

peat restoration and tree planting. Emissions from vehicles travelling along the M6 motorway have 

been excluded. 

Broken down by local authority, Allerdale shows the third highest emissions (excluding removals 

from Land Use, Land Use Change and Forestry – LULUCF). 

 

                                                           
9 See Cumbria Carbon Baseline report by Small World Consulting 

Page 32

https://cumbria.gov.uk/elibrary/Content/Internet/536/671/4674/17217/17225/4414012219.PDF


 

Allerdale Action Plan to Address Climate Change - April 2022 - page 13  
 

 
Figure 5: Total production-based CO2 emissions by sector, broken down by Cumbrian local authority, net figures are labelled 

on the top of each district bar. 

From the latest figures available (BEIS, 2019) the greenhouse gases emissions which originated in 

Allerdale were 615 ktCO2, with just over a third of this being attributable to industrial and 

commercial fuel use 218 ktCO2, alongside roughly equal amounts attributable to domestic energy 

use 178 ktCO2 and transport 171 ktCO2. Energy for Agriculture creates 48 KtCO2. The per capita 

emissions have fallen between 2005 and 2019 from 13.4tCO2 to 6.5tCO2.  (excluding sequestration 

from Land Use, Land Use Change and Forestry – LULUCF). 

 

University of Manchester’s Tyndall Centre has produced reports setting out science-based carbon 

budgets for each local authority area based on translating the “well below 2°C and pursuing 1.5°C” 

global temperature target and equity principles in the United Nations Paris Agreement into a 

national UK carbon budget. This national budget is then broken down between sub-national areas 

using different allocation regimes.   

 

The Tyndall Centre report10 makes three key recommendations for Allerdale: 

1. Stay within a maximum cumulative carbon dioxide emissions budget of 4.9 million tonnes 

(MtCO2) for the period of 2020 to 2100. At 2017 CO2 emission levels, Allerdale would use 

this entire budget within 8 years from 2020. 

2. Initiate an immediate programme of CO2 mitigation to deliver cuts in emissions averaging 

a minimum of -11.2% per year to deliver a Paris aligned carbon budget. These annual 

reductions in emissions require national and local action, and could be part of a wider 

collaboration with other local authorities. 

3. Reach zero or near zero carbon no later than 2046. This report provides an indicative CO2 

reduction pathway that stays within the recommended maximum carbon budget of 4.9 

                                                           
10 Tyndall Centre Report E07000026 

Page 33

https://carbonbudget.manchester.ac.uk/reports/E07000026/


 

Allerdale Action Plan to Address Climate Change - April 2022 - page 14  
 

MtCO2. At 2046 5% of the budget remains. This represents very low levels of residual CO2 

emissions by this time, or the Authority may opt to forgo these residual emissions and cut 

emissions to zero at this point. Earlier years for reaching zero CO2 emissions are also within 

the recommended budget, provided that interim budgets with lower cumulative CO2 

emissions are also adopted. 

 

 
Figure 6: Cumulative CO2 emissions for budget period from 2018 to 2100 for Allerdale 

Source: The Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research 

The graph above shows that rapid and transformational change is required to stay within the 

recommended carbon budgets for Allerdale.  

The Tyndall Centre also recommends that Allerdale seriously consider strategies for significantly 

limiting Scope 3 emissions growth from aviation and shipping.  

CO2 emissions in the carbon budget related to electricity use from the National Grid in Allerdale are 

largely dependent upon national government policy and changes to power generation across the 

country. The Tyndall Centre recommends that Allerdale promote the deployment of low carbon 

electricity generation within the region and where possible influence national policy on this issue. 

The Tyndall Centre also recommends that the LULUCF sector should be managed to ensure 

CO2 sequestration where possible. The management of LULUCF could also include action to 

increase wider social and environmental benefits. 

 

 

Page 34



 

Allerdale Action Plan to Address Climate Change - April 2022 - page 15  
 

The graph below shows that between 2015 and 2019, Allerdale’s district emissions fell from 902 kT 

to 636kT of CO2e showing that change is possible.  It is the pace and scale of change that needs to 

be increased in order to reach net zero targets. 

Source: BEIS  

Organisational Carbon Baseline 

For Allerdale’s own estate, the Council has begun to use the Carbon Accounting Tool produced by 
Local Partnerships/Local Government Association to help local authorities establish their baseline 
greenhouse gas emissions. The tool follows the Greenhouse Gas Protocol methodology, accounting 
for the seven greenhouse gases covered by the Kyoto Protocol, expressed as carbon-dioxide 
equivalent (CO2e). 

The Council will need to establish a route to decarbonise public sector buildings, funding may be 
available from the Local Energy Hub and government. This funding is intended to lead to a 
programme of activity based on the identification of urgent need for remedial action. 

The Climate Change Committee recommends that local authority action plans should state how 

progress will be monitored and reported back to partnerships and residents, along with methods of 

ongoing engagement. The Centre for Governance and Scrutiny’s 2020 recommendations give us 

guidelines for self-scrutiny. General guiding principles are: 

• Measure and report Scopes 1 and 2 as a minimum. Scope 1 is direct GHG emissions from 

sources owned or controlled by the local authority, for example emissions from boilers and 

vehicles. Scope 2 accounts for emissions of purchased electricity consumed by the local 

authority.  

• Define and report on Scope 3 as actively as possible. Scope 3 includes indirect emissions 

from wider supply chains, emissions from the use of local authority services, staff travel, 

contracted out services, investments, water use and waste, all of which should be easily 

measurable. Local authorities should assess the significance of emissions and level of 

0.0

200.0

400.0

600.0

800.0

1,000.0

1,200.0

1,400.0

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

k 
To

n
n

e
s 

C
O

2

Calendar Year

Allerdale area total CO2 emissions energy use, 
transport, land use change

Page 35



 

Allerdale Action Plan to Address Climate Change - April 2022 - page 16  
 

control they have over different types of Scope 3 emissions and focus on the areas with the 

most emissions over which they have the most control or influence. 

See the Terminology section at the end of the document for a definition of the scopes. 

Work gathering baseline data is ongoing and methodology will be improved to provide more 

accurate and specific information. 

 

 

  

Page 36



 

Allerdale Action Plan to Address Climate Change - April 2022 - page 17  
 

Section A:  Growing the low carbon economy – skills and infrastructure; 
community and business engagement 
We want to create thriving resilient economy that supports a fair transition to Net Zero Carbon, 
through communication, training and skills, support for businesses and a procurement 
approach that influences the emissions of supply chains and products.  We encourage bold use 
of technology to decarbonise our operations. 

 Actions Activity 

A1 Reduction in the impact of climate 
change on our services and community 

Assess the risk associated with climate change for the 
Council Services and our communities and produce 
plan to adapt accordingly 

A2 Review council policies and strategies to 
consider impact of climate change 

Ensure climate change actions are reflected in both 
existing and any new strategies and policies 

A3 Develop a stakeholder engagement and 
communications strategy 

Devise a programme in conjunction with partners to 
include: 
a) stakeholders  
b) Council members 
c) businesses particularly including tourism and 

farming 
d) the community to raise awareness of climate 

change, potentially addressing different age 
groups through targeted campaigns 

e) engagement with young people’s groups 
f) further engagement with schools to include 

aspects of climate change in Council’s education 
delivery 

g) communications strategy for the work of the 
group 

A4 Work with key partners a) develop and implement strategic projects which 
deliver best practices in sustainable development 

b) develop plans to address the causes and impact of 
climate change according to local priorities 

A5 Support the work of the network of local 
partnerships in raising awareness of 
climate change in Cumbria 

a) participate in the Zero Carbon Cumbria 
Partnership including working closely with other 
Cumbrian authorities 

b) work with Zero Carbon Cumbria Partnership on 
citizen engagement projects  

c) encourage community groups to engage with the 
Council’s climate change task groups around 
specific areas of interest 

A6 Building relationships with and lobbying  
the area’s three MPs 

Linking during 2022/23 with the Local Government 

Regorganisation and the Levelling Up agenda 

A7 Increased skills in local workforce to 
implement changes 

a) better understanding among Council officers of 
climate change implementation 

b) sufficiently skilled local workforce to resource 
necessary changes 

A8 Provide and co-ordinate training on 
climate change for staff and members, 
particularly front line staff  

Continue the programme of carbon literacy training  
and awareness raising [Phase 1 completed in 2021/22] 
Offer option for advanced/in depth climate training as 
appropriate. 

Page 37



 

Allerdale Action Plan to Address Climate Change - April 2022 - page 18  
 

A9 Inward investment in renewables 
energies and other ‘green job’ 
opportunities 

Support large scale projects 

A10 Work with neighbouring councils to 
ensure contiguous approaches across all 
activities and communities 

These include those on the boundaries of Carlisle City 
Council (Thursby, Kirkbride etc) and Eden (Hesket New 
Market, Millhouse) as such it will be worth connecting 
with the plans for Carlisle City Council and Eden 
District Council to share learning and action.  

Key Partners / Stakeholder Groups – Action with Communities in Cumbria, Carlisle City Council, Centre for 
Alternative Technology (CAT), Climate Emergency West Cumbria (CEWC), Copeland Borough Council, 
Cumbria Action for Sustainability (CAfS), Cumbria County Council, Cumbria CVS, Cumbria Farmer Network, 
Cumbria LEP, Cumbria Youth Alliance, Cumbria Waste Carbon Reduction Group, DWP, Eden District 
Council, Friends of the Earth (FotE), MPs, schools and colleges, Sustainable Keswick (SusKes), town and 
parish councils, TWIG, Zero Carbon Cumbria Partnership (ZCCP).  

  

  

Page 38



 

Allerdale Action Plan to Address Climate Change - April 2022 - page 19  
 

Section B:  Retro-fitting homes and buildings 
We want to improve housing stock and the wider built environment to reduce carbon 
emissions, build resilience to future climate change, reduce fuel poverty and influence 
improved living conditions 

 Actions Activity 

B1 Work with Cumbria Action for 
Sustainability (CAfS) and other partners 
to promote energy efficiencies in 
households 

a) promote availability of energy saving measures in 
homes in conjunction with CAfS  

b) promotion of government schemes to improve 
homes 

c) promote full occupancy of homes 

B2 Running energy efficiency schemes  a) targeting deprivation and fuel poverty, including 
working with Housing Associations (HAs), 
environmental groups and other agencies 

b) promotion of government schemes to improve 
homes, including those targeting social housing 
providers 

c) build knowledge through working with social 
housing providers 

d) regularly run a collective energy switching scheme 

B3 Ensure Private Rented Accommodation in 
Allerdale does not have an EPC rating 
below an E 

Enforcement activity in accordance with the Minimum 
Energy Efficiency Standard (MEES) regulations 

B4 Raise awareness of funding available for 
energy efficiency  

Improve awareness amongst front line staff, visiting 
officers, Customer Service Advisors and partners 

B5 Encourage awareness of emissions from 
domestic heating sources 

a) promote eco-friendly sources including ground 
and air source heat pumps and  PV options 

b) promote awareness of emissions from log burners 
and coal fires 

c) work in conjunction with local community energy 
focused groups and organisations 

B6 Work with tenants, lessees and 
occupants of Council owned buildings to 
identify energy savings opportunities 

Once work to identify which buildings require work to 
address emissions is complete, begin to develop 
solutions 

B7 Review energy use and plan for energy 
efficiencies and decarbonisation in 
Council buildings and estate 

a) identify potential for energy efficiencies and 
sustainability for operational buildings 

b) produce prioritised action plan  
c) implement prioritised action 
d) replace (repair) footway lighting with LED as need 

arises until completed 
e) explore the potential for an ‘invest to save’ project 

to replace existing lighting with LEDs 
f) support parish councils wishing to participate in 

Dark Skies project compliance 

B8 Investigate the potential for installing 
renewable energy generation in existing 
or new Council buildings 

a) establish a baseline of the current position and 
need for improvements (audit of estate) 

b) explore potential for improvements initially at 
Allerdale House e.g. solar panels and other sources 
of energy creation, then other Council owned 
buildings 

Page 39



 

Allerdale Action Plan to Address Climate Change - April 2022 - page 20  
 

B9 Review energy suppliers for Council 
building and seek to move towards 100% 
supply from ‘green’ sources or suppliers 

Work to ensure Council purchases of electricity are 
from renewable sources and identify alternatives to 
gas supply  

B10 Engage in the Borderlands energy 
masterplanning work 

Participate other local authorities to develop solutions 

Key Partners / Stakeholder Groups – CAfS, Cumbria County Council, Cumbria LEP, energy companies, 
Local Energy North West Hub, Melbreak Community Energy, social landlords and Housing Associations, 
Zero Carbon Cumbria Partnership.  

  

Page 40



 

Allerdale Action Plan to Address Climate Change - April 2022 - page 21  
 

Section C:  Decarbonisation of transport & reducing road miles  
We want to reduce traffic and shift to more sustainable modes of transport.  This will lead to 
improvements in emissions, air quality, noise and safety. 

 Actions Activity 

C1 Contribute to addressing wider 
community-based transport issues 
 

a) transport savings by holding virtual meetings  
b) lobbying for more bus services 
c) explore lift sharing apps and the use of data these 

can provide 
d) respond to changes as a result of greater numbers 

of people working from home 

C2 Review existing car user policy to identify 
sustainable travel incentives 

a) consider staff pool bicycle scheme  
b) continue supported purchase schemes for staff 
c) encourage staff use of public transport  
d) regularly promote sensible driving message to staff 

and members 
e) Continue to operate flexible, agile and remote 

working arrangments to minimise staff travel 

C3 Work with main partners to achieve 
reduction in energy use and greenhouse 
gases in the delivery of Council services 
 

Particularly in relation to: 
a) planning replacement of vehicles  
b) encourage transition from petrol fuelled 

equipment to electric 
c) Reducing distances and frequency of travel 

C4 Maximise benefits of projects by partners  a) support projects to install  electric vehicle charge 
points with providers and partners 

b) further promote Local Cycling and Walking Plans 
(LCWiPs) 

C5 Promote sustainable travel options Work with groups involved in promoting sustainable 
travel to support initiatives 

Key Partners / Stakeholder Groups - Allerdale Waste Services, Bicycle Mayor for Cumbria, CAfS, Charge 
My Street, Cumbria County Council, cyclists groups, Lake District National Park Authority (LDNPA), other 
initiatives - Liftshare (app), Slow Roads Network, Sustrans.  

 

  

Page 41



 

Allerdale Action Plan to Address Climate Change - April 2022 - page 22  
 

Section D: Planning to deliver zero carbon development that protects 
and enhances nature 
We want to ensure that new development is carbon neutral, makes space for nature and links 
with walking and cycling routes to essential facilities. 

 Actions Activity 

D1 a) Ensure forthcoming legislation is 
effectively implemented and 
supported within the authority 

b) Regularly review planning policies to 
incorporate sustainable development 
taking into account the needs and 
character of the area through the 
Local Plan 

c) Ensure robust strategies are in place 
to support legislation 

d) Ensure interdepartmental 
coordination enables continuous 
improvement 

a) i -  ensure all senior managers are aware of the 
     impacts of proposed legislation 
ii - ensure the Council is able to service the 

requirements of implementing the proposed 
new planning requirements 

b) develop supplementary planning documents 
relating to biodiversity and environmental gains  

c) continue to collaborate with other Cumbrian 
authorities on the draft local nature recovery 
strategy and ensure this is implemented when 
adopted 

d) enable close communication between all relevant 
staff, particularly planning policy and development 
control in conjunction with parks and open spaces 

D2 Examine existing supplementary planning 
guidance for sustainable development 
and determine if any change is required 
to bring guidance in line with best 
practice 

Consider if planning conditions can 
a) enable the commissioning of independent 

monitoring of planning applications as a condition 
of approval 

b) require the installation of electric vehicle charge 
points in public facing developments 

c) advocate that new infrastructure, especially roads, 
avoids flood plain wherever feasible or is built 
above anticipated flood heights 

D3 Promote higher building quality 
standards that include sustainable and 
green building principles 

a) monitor use of pre-planning checklist 
b) promote biodiversity support measures including 

swift bricks, hedgehog runs etc. 
c) expand list and use of appropriate external 

organisations as consultees 

D4 Review existing main Council policies and 
consider making amendments to assist in 
tackling climate change 

Development and phasing in of ‘green clauses’ (such 
as requiring energy efficiency) into Council leases and 
rental contracts 

D5 Protect good agricultural for food 
production  

Local Plan policy S36 and para 329 page 142 sets out 
the principle of protection of most versatile 
agricultural land for food production. 

Key Partners / Stakeholder Groups – Cumbria County Council, Cumbria Wildlife Trust, LDNPA, Local 
Government Association (LGA), Natural England, Workington Nature Partnership. 

 

Potential future actions and activities 
Carbon sequestration and/or off-setting 
(land based) 

Once the baseline figures for Council activities are 
established, consider potential activities towards carbon 
sequestration and or off-setting  

Carbon sequestration and/or off-setting  
(marine based) 

Work with partners to explore supporting carbon storage 
in the marine environment 

 

Page 42



 

Allerdale Action Plan to Address Climate Change - April 2022 - page 23  
 

Section E: - Reducing waste and encouraging sustainable consumption: 
within Allerdale Borough Council estate 
We aim to reduce waste and support sustainable consumption and production, through a more 
circular economy.  We want to be bold in our use of technology to reduce resource use and 
greenhouse gas emissions. We will regularly issue communications and newsletters 

 Actions Activity 

E1 a) Review departmental and central 
printing strategy 

b) Review potential for further reducing 
volume of paper for Committee work 

c) Consider extending the use of video 
conferencing 

a) Continue to minimise printing by staff 
b) Continue to encourage greater use of electronic 

devices by councillors 
c) Continue to offer hybrid provision to allow 

combined in-person and virtual meetings 

E2 Continue re-use schemes when disposing 
of furniture/ equipment 

a) Repair and extend life where possible 
b) Offer spare or replaced items to community 

groups and voluntary organisations 

E3 Consider impact of on staff and the 
community in accessing and delivery of 
services at current and potential Council 
Centres. 

Review options for the delivery of Council services 

E4 Monitor working temperatures and other 
factors adversely affecting workforce.  

Ensure steps are taken to mitigate any changes in 
working conditions or wellbeing in Allerdale Borough 
Council workplaces. 

E5 Regularly review the Council’s Strategic 
Procurement Strategy to increase the 
purchase of sustainable goods and 
services 

Ensure any new aspects of climate change including 
legislation are incorporated into the Strategic 
Commissioning and Procurement Strategy as required 

E6 Review the Council’s use of outside 
caterers and when used include the need 
for locally sourced food and reusable or 
recyclable utensils. 

a) choosing sustainable resources should be the 
intended choices 

b) work in conjunction with the Grow Local Eat Local 
project (ZCCP) 

Reducing waste and encouraging sustainable consumption:  Allerdale 
Borough Council residents and businesses 
We aim to reduce waste and support sustainable consumption and production, through a more 
circular economy.  We want to discourage wasteful lifestyles that create environmental 
problems both here and abroad, on land and in the marine environment. 

E7 Improve recycling knowledge and 
practices in Allerdale including awareness 
of service 

a) Review trade waste options  
b) Review bulky waste collection and potential re-use 

system for furniture 
c) Review information on bin calendars [complete] 
d) Update Council website and information links 

[complete] 
e) Run further targeted PR campaigns to raise 

awareness of facilities and services 
f) Promote repair, reuse and recycling in the 

community for example through initiatives such as 
Freegle and repair cafes 

g) Continue campaigns to engage the public based on 
these principles: 

Page 43



 

Allerdale Action Plan to Address Climate Change - April 2022 - page 24  
 

rethink - reducing consumption 
refuse - saying no to environmentally unfriendly 
goods and services, including packaging 
reduce - reducing consumption of environmentally 
impactful purchases that you cannot live without  
recycle - finally, if the above options are not 
possible then look at the recycling options and 
ensure you recycle correctly 

E8 Extend provision of doorstep recycling 
facilities in accordance with annual 
programme 

a) work with Allerdale Waste Services to determine 
programme 

b) address issues for areas of the borough not 
covered by current services  

E9 Minimisation of residual waste  a) continue to work on Tetra-Pak recycling scheme 
options 

b) investigate : 
i -   anaerobic digestion for food waste 
ii -  soft plastic recycling 
iii - electrical repair and recycling 
iv - furniture reuse 
v -  deposit return scheme (bottles) 

c) promote Sustainable Food Action Plans  
d) consider reduction in residual waste collection 

container volume in line with national initiative 

E10 Minimisation of residual waste at source a) raise awareness of staff and public on waste 
minimisation and recycling 

b) work on a waste minimisation campaign 
c) work to improve attitudes and actions regarding 

environmental crimes e.g. fly-tipping with a 
particular focus on identified hotspots 

d) carry out educational campaigns to support the 
above 

e) Extended Producer Responsibility scheme 

Key Partners / Stakeholder Groups – Allerdale Waste Services, BEC, businesses, CAfS, CEWC, Copeland 
Borough Council, Cumbria County Council, Cumbria LEP, Cumbria Strategic Waste Partnership, FotE, 
Freegle, refill initiative, repair cafes, schools and colleges, SusKes, town and parish councils, ZCCP.  

  

Page 44



 

Allerdale Action Plan to Address Climate Change - April 2022 - page 25  
 

Section F:  Restoring nature for all:  Biodiversity, land use, land use 
change and forestry  
We want to provide easy access to quality natural spaces, supporting wellbeing for individuals 
and communities.  We want green spaces to have the co-benefits of providing natural potential 
for flood water slowing, carbon capture, flourishing insect friendly pollination areas and wildlife 
habitats, in addition to human focussed leisure facilities. 

F1 Nature reserves become sustainable a) Progress the Solway Coast AONB Management 
Plan 

b) Progress delivery of management plans for the 
Council’s nature reserves at Harrington and Siddick 
Ponds 

F2 Support for community focused projects  a) Encourage orchards & allotments  
b) support development of horticultural businesses 
c) develop a small grants scheme 
d) Complete the Allonby to Silloth coastal cycle path 

extension [completed 2021/22] 

F3 Promote biodiversity by 
a) planting to minimise maintenance/ 

links to biodiversity 
b) identify areas of land for tree planting 
c) encourage composting 
d) promote/develop more Get Cumbria 

Buzzing sites 
e) promote habitat restoration, 

particularly including saltmarsh and 
seagrass beds 

f) Work with Cumbria Farmers Network 
to promote sustainable farming and 
improved environmental practice 

a) i -   change bedding plants to perennials 
ii -  use peat free compost 
iii - introduce wildflower planting where viable and 

revise cutting timetable to encourage growth 
iv - reduce the use of Glyphosate as a general 

weed killer 
b) i - work with the Woodland Trust and local 

     groups such as TWIG;  
ii - be part of the emerging partnership project for 

a West Cumbria Community Coastal Forest 
c) through promotional campaigns encourage 

citizens to engage in composting  
d) i -  work with Cumbria Wildlife Trust and local  

groups  
ii – work with town and parish councils   

e) support local and community groups developing 
projects to restore or create habitats for 
biodiversity 

f) develop relationship Cumbria Farmers Network 

F4 Reduction in overall flood risk  Planting to mitigate the effects by slowing the flow in 
rivers and streams 

F5 Reduce flood probability and severity a) continue to promote and ensure urban run-off 
through SUDS (sustainable urban drainage 
systems) 

b) work with United Utilities with regard to reviewing 
water management from Thirlmere 

F6 Explore carbon capture potential This would include both usage and storage 

F7 Explore hydrogen-related energy 
possibilities 

Continue to monitor the project research being 
undertaken for Cumbria LEP and partners 

F8 Increased community awareness of 
climate change issues in AONB area 

Through communication and community engagement 

F9 Prevent import of pests, diseases through 
local docks 

Work in collaboration to ensure adherence to 
legislation 

Page 45



 

Allerdale Action Plan to Address Climate Change - April 2022 - page 26  
 

Restoring Nature for All:  Water, flooding and coastal change 
We want to address water wastage and develop grey water systems.  We want to work with 
partners to improve flood resilience, consider coastal erosion, shoreline management, improve 
biodiversity and address beach litter.  

F10 Implement results of trial using water 
saving devices in Council buildings and 
assess scope for extending 

Improve ABC utilities supply/usage 

F11 Assess scope for reuse of grey water in 
Council buildings and prioritise for action 

Improve ABC utilities supply/usage 

F12 Recognise the Council’s role in ensuring 
sufficient public water for agriculture, 
industry, council use including statutory 
duties with regard to private water 
supplies and improving water sanitation 

Work with Environment Agency, United Utilities, 
Cumbria County Council and other partners 
Ensure compliance with Sustainable Development 
Goal 6 

F13 Raise awareness of staff and community 
on water saving measures 

a) develop goals to reduce water leakage, wastage 
b) consider feasibility of installing rainwater and/or 

grey water recovery systems 

F14 Work to address coastal issues 
 

a) work with partners to support the implementation 
of the Cumbria Coastal Strategy 

b) work with partners to support the implementation 
of the Shoreline Management Plan 

c) work with partners and Cumbria County Council 
on coastal issues, particularly around the B5300 

d) continue to participate in the LGA Coastal Special 
Interest Group 

F15 Increase river and coastal flood resilience 
and safety 

a) assess risk for people, livelihoods and prosperity 
b) ensure access to flood-readiness information (for 

evacuation) 
c) ensure access to flood-resilience and support 

information  
d) work closely with the Environment Agency and 

respective flood action groups throughout the 
borough 

e) assist EA and CCC with all flood alleviation 
methods including improving river defences  

F16 Review beach cleaning activities Work with a range of groups to help clean beaches. Of 
greater importance to raise the issue of dirty beaches 
and how the public can help reduce this. 

F17 Support ongoing work with partners to 
address diffuse pollution and improve 
bathing water quality 

Promote the benefits of domestic travel and blue 
spaces for recreation and health, in conjunction with 
initiatives such as Love My Beach and Active Coast. 

F18 Support ongoing action plan for Allonby 
as a priority bathing water.  

Ensure compliance with Sustainable Development 
Goals 4 and 14 

Key Partners / Stakeholder Groups - Climate Emergency West Cumbria,  CoBA (Coastal Based Approach) 
initiative, Cumbria County Council, Cumbria Lichens and Bryophyte Group, Cumbria Wildlife Trust, Cumbria 
Farmers Network, DEFRA, Environment Agency, Get Cumbria Buzzing, LDNPA, LGA Coastal Special Interest 
Group, ‘Love My Beach’, Marine Management Organisation (MMO), National Trust, Natural England, 
Northside Community Garden and Recreation Society, RSPB, Solway Coast AONB, Solway Firth Partnership, 
SusKes, TWIG, United Utilities, West Cumbria Rivers Trust, Woodland Trust, Workington Nature 
Partnership. 

Page 46



 

Allerdale Action Plan to Address Climate Change - April 2022 - page 27  
 

Section G: Developing local authority funding, governance and 
accounting systems that are fit for purpose    
We want to develop a strategic approach to influencing climate and biodiversity problems.  We 
hope to provide citizens with appropriate engagement opportunities based on transparent 
proposals, processes and performance, which will deliver innovative solutions.  We aim to 
influence investment strategies and procurement policies to ensure they are in line with this 
Council's Climate Change ambitions and contribute to a local, circular economy 

 Actions Activity 

G1 Scrutiny of treasury and procurement via 
Overview and Scrutiny and/or Audit 
Committee to ensure actions are in line 
with the Action Plan to Address Climate 
Change aims 

a) ensure that whole life costs and local, ethical 
purchasing guidelines are followed 

b) address policies to include the economic costs of 
climate change adaptation and mitigation 

c) look to divest from financial arrangements 
damaging to the climate 

G2 Innovative funding and financing 
mechanisms  

a) look at community bonds and funding 
partnerships 

b) explore potential for large capital schemes 
c) engage with regional procurement frameworks 

where appropriate 
d) develop a funding strategy including assessing, 

readiness to apply for and utilising grant funding 
schemes as these become available 

G3 Explore options for UK Shared Prosperity 
Fund to fund the transition to the low 
carbon economy 

Ensure low carbon/net zero goals are considered in 

the development of the UKSP Investment Plan  

G4 Provide government with the evidence 
that helps local authorities to apply 
policies and target resources to deliver 
necessary cuts in emissions 

a) address carbon reduction in service planning and 
performance management 

b) assess the carbon emissions when developing 
proposals for capital schemes 

c) continue use of impact assessment section in 
council report templates 

d) lobby Government 

Key Partners / Stakeholder Groups – Cumbria LEP, Local Energy Hub North West, MPs, Zero Carbon 
Cumbria Partnership 

 

  

Page 47



 

Allerdale Action Plan to Address Climate Change - April 2022 - page 28  
 

Bibliography 

A blueprint for accelerating climate action and a green recovery at the local level (ADEPT [Association 

of Directors of Environment, Economy, Transport and Planning] , Ashden, Friends of the Earth, 

Grantham Institute - Climate Change and the Environment (Imperial College London), Green Alliance, 

Greenpeace UK, Local Government Association, London Environment Directors’ Network [LEDNet], 

Place-based Climate Action Network [PCAN at LSE, University of Edinburgh, University of Leeds and 

Queens University Belfast] and Solace, January 2021) Available at 

https://www.adeptnet.org.uk/documents/blueprint-accelerating-climate-action-and-green-

recovery-local-level 

So You’ve Declared A Climate Emergency, What Next? (APSE) - Available at 

https://www.apse.org.uk/apse/index.cfm/research/current-research-programme/ 

The Sixth Carbon Budget for Local Authorities (The Climate Change Committee) - Available at 

https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/local-authorities-and-the-sixth-carbon-budget/ 

A Carbon Baseline for Cumbria (Small World Consulting) – Available under ‘Key Documents’ at 

https://www.cumbriaobservatory.org.uk/environment/environment-further-information/ 

Setting Climate Commitments for Allerdale (Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research, March 

2021) – Available at https://carbonbudget.manchester.ac.uk/reports/E07000026/ 

Cumbria Green Investment Plan  

Transport for the North Decarbonisation of Transport Strategy 

https://transportforthenorth.com/reports/tfn-transport-decarbonisation-strategy-dec-2021/ 

Cumbria Green Investment Plan https://greeninvestmentplancumbria.net/ 

Copeland Citizens Panel Recommendations https://sharedfuturecic.org.uk/wp-

content/uploads/2021/11/Copeland-report-v0.4.pdf 

Kendal Citizens Panel Recommendations https://www.kendalclimatejury.org/wp-

content/uploads/2021/04/Shared-Futures-Final-Report.pdf 

Terminology 

Below are explanations of some of the terms used in this document. 

Net Zero - 'A net zero organisation will set and pursue an ambitious 1.5°C aligned science-based 

target for its full value-chain emissions. Any remaining hard-to-decarbonise emissions can be 

compensated using certified greenhouse gas removal*.’ (Science Based Targets Initiative) 

1. The company will set and pursue an ambitious 1.5°C aligned science-based target for its full value 

chain emissions 

2. The boundary must be global scopes 1, 2 and 3 for the organisation 

3. Any remaining hard-to-decarbonise emissions can be compensated with certified greenhouse 

gas removals (GGR*). These should be restricted to only certified methods of GGR, to increase 

Page 48

https://www.adeptnet.org.uk/documents/blueprint-accelerating-climate-action-and-green-recovery-local-level
https://www.adeptnet.org.uk/documents/blueprint-accelerating-climate-action-and-green-recovery-local-level
https://www.apse.org.uk/apse/index.cfm/research/current-research-programme/
https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/local-authorities-and-the-sixth-carbon-budget/
https://www.cumbriaobservatory.org.uk/environment/environment-further-information/
https://carbonbudget.manchester.ac.uk/reports/E07000026/
https://transportforthenorth.com/reports/tfn-transport-decarbonisation-strategy-dec-2021/
https://greeninvestmentplancumbria.net/
https://sharedfuturecic.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/Copeland-report-v0.4.pdf
https://sharedfuturecic.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/Copeland-report-v0.4.pdf
https://www.kendalclimatejury.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/Shared-Futures-Final-Report.pdf
https://www.kendalclimatejury.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/Shared-Futures-Final-Report.pdf


 

Allerdale Action Plan to Address Climate Change - April 2022 - page 29  
 

confidence that the carbon is permanently sequestered. Importantly, the company or 

organisation should make sure that only truly ‘hard-to-decarbonise’ emissions may be 

compensated. 
* ”There is still much discussion around appropriate GGR methods and the markets for GGRs require significant 

development in terms of volume, market mechanisms, and certification protocols.” 

Carbon Neutral - ‘A condition in which during a specified period there has been no net increase in 

the global emission of greenhouse gases to the atmosphere as a result of the greenhouse gas 

emissions associated with the subject during the same period’ 

Zero Carbon means that no carbon dioxide emissions are being produced from a product/service e.g. 

zero-carbon electricity could be provided by a 100% renewable energy supplier. 

How do net zero targets differ from science-based targets? Science-based targets set a trajectory for 

emissions reduction for scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions, and do not allow an organisation/company to 

use offsets to achieve a reduction.  

Net zero targets bring in a new aspect of compensating for those residual emissions using greenhouse 

gas removals. Greenhouse gas removals take remaining emissions from the atmosphere and 

permanently sequester them. 

It is important to note that organisations/companies are unlikely to achieve a net zero target without 

large reductions in their scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions, as the greenhouse gas removal market is 

immature.  

The first step is to measure your company’s scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions and set a 1.5°C aligned science-

based target for your own operations and value chain. You can then consider the options for setting 

a target to go further, bringing together your internal stakeholders and identifying whether a net zero 

or carbon neutral target is best for your organization/company. 

Scopes 1, 2 and 3 

‘Scopes’ are defined as emissions broken down into three categories by the Greenhouse Gas Protocol 

in order to better understand the source. 

Scope 1 – All Direct Emissions from the activities of an organisation or under their control. Including 

fuel combustion on site such as gas boilers, fleet vehicles and air-conditioning leaks. 

Scope 2 – Indirect Emissions from electricity purchased and used by the organisation. Emissions are 

created during the production of the energy and eventually used by the organisation. 

Scope 3 – All Other Indirect Emissions from activities of the organisation, occurring from sources that 

they do not own or control. These are usually the greatest share of the carbon footprint, covering 

emissions associated with business travel, procurement, waste and water. 

  

Page 49



 

Allerdale Action Plan to Address Climate Change - April 2022 - page 30  
 

Appendix A 
 

Allerdale Borough Council plans, policies and strategies 

Action Plan to Address Climate 
Change - Section A 
Growing the low carbon economy – 
skills and infrastructure 

Council Strategy Resilient Communities 
Strategy 

Economic Recovery and 
Growth Strategy 

Allerdale Local Plan Strategic Commissioning and 
Procurement Strategy 2020-
2030 
 
 

Reduction in the impact of climate 
change on our services and community 
 
Review council policies and strategies 
to consider impact of climate change 
 
Develop a stakeholder engagement 
and communications strategy 
 
Work with key partners 
 
Support the work of the network of 
local partnerships in raising awareness 
of climate change in Cumbria 
 
Building relationships with and 
lobbying  the area’s three MPs 
 
Increased skills in local workforce to 
implement changes 
 
Provide and co-ordinate training on 
climate change for staff and members, 
particularly frontline staff  
 
Inward investment in renewables 
energies and other ‘green job’ 
opportunities 
 
Work with neighbouring councils to 
ensure contiguous approaches across 
all activities and communities 

Use key partnerships to 
stimulate growth and 
green jobs 
 
Work with partners on 
key sites and 
opportunities  
 
Use our assets to 
encourage green 
technology 

Help to improve physical 
and mental wellbeing 
through access to a range 
of activities including 
volunteering in the 
natural environment 
which can also improve 
understanding of 
biodiversity and climate 
change issues. 

Theme 1 – Clean Growth 
and the Low Carbon 
Economy 
 
Low Carbon Economy and 
Climate Change: Climate 
change is, and is going to 
continue to have, a 
significant impact on 
business globally. However, 
in Allerdale, according to 
data from the Green 
Alliance, 87% of electricity 
consumption comes from 
renewable sources. This 
represents a key 
opportunity and driver for 
change going forward. 
Quality of Place: 
Business Support: 
Economic Diversification: 

Policies S2 and DM14 Sustainable 
Development and construction 
 
Policies S4 and DM 14 Design Cycling and 
walking networks embedded in design. 
 
Policy S19 and SA50 Renewable Energy 
Supports renewable generation 
 
Policy S22 Transport Principles Priority to 
pedestrians and cycling in development and 
links to public transport hubs. Charging 
points for electric and hybrid vehicles. 
Travel Plans to support schemes to 
encourage a shift away from the car to 
public transport. 
 
Policy SA33 Broadband Ensure broadband 
Infrastructure is included in new 
development. 
 
Policy S15 Education and skills  
 
Policy SA32 Sustainable tourism. 
Encouraging accommodation, travel and 
attractions to sustainable locations. 
 

Stimulate local jobs and 
training/apprenticeship 
opportunities to support 
growth and economic 
development for SMEs by 
developing robust, targeted 
and clear specifications for all 
tenders  
 
Build ethical and sustainable 
practices into all procurements 
and continue to evaluate on a 
whole-life cycle basis taking 
into account long term impacts 
(including environmental 
impacts) and maximising social 
return on investment  
 
Ensure climate change 
implications are considered 
throughout the procurement 
process such as, reducing 
waste, buying locally and 
encouraging new technologies 
such as using video 
conferencing for supplier 
engagement to reduce vehicle 
emissions.  

  

P
age 50



 

Allerdale Action Plan to Address Climate Change - April 2022 - page 31  
 

 

Allerdale Borough Council plans, policies and strategies 

Action Plan to Address Climate 
Change - Section B 
Retro-fitting homes and buildings 

Council Strategy Resilient 
Communities 
Strategy 

Economic Recovery 
and Growth Strategy 

Allerdale Local Plan Asset Management 
Plan 

Housing Strategy 
 

Work with Cumbria Action for 
Sustainability (CAfS) and other partners 
to promote energy efficiencies in 
households 
 
Running energy efficiency schemes  
 
Ensure Private Rented Accommodation 
in Allerdale does not have an EPC 
rating below an E 
 
Raise awareness of funding available 
for energy efficiency  
 
Encourage awareness of emissions 
from domestic heating sources 
 
Work with tenants, leases and 
occupants of Council owned buildings 
to identify energy savings 
opportunities 
 
Review energy use and plan for energy 
efficiencies and decarbonisation in 
Council buildings and estate 
 
Investigate the potential for installing 
renewable energy generation in 
existing or new Council buildings 
 
Review energy suppliers for Council 
building and seek to move towards 
100% supply from ‘green’ sources or 
suppliers 
 
Engage in the Borderlands energy 
masterplanning work 

Ensure 
environmental 
sustainability is at 
the heart of our 
policies. 
 
Ensure there are 
suitable, affordable, 
decent homes for 
all. 

Facilitate schemes to 
alleviate fuel poverty 
such as energy 
switching and energy 
efficiency schemes. 

Theme 4 – Harnessing 
changing lifestyle and 
working patterns to 
diversify and grow the 
economy – 
Start-ups and scale-ups 

Policy S2 Sustainable 
Development 
Minimise impact on 
natural resources, 
waste reduction, 
recycling, low carbon 
energy, sustainable 
construction, locally 
sourced materials,  
support local food 
production. 
 
 

Objective: To ensure that 
the Council’s asset 
portfolio is sustainable 
and managed 
appropriately. 
 
Action:  
Identify opportunities to 
improve Allerdale’s land 
and property portfolio’s 
energy efficiency.   
 
 
Performance measures:  
Energy consumption/m2 
kwh. Cost of water per 
m2 gross internal floor 
area.  
CO2 emissions per gross 
internal floor area. 

Objective: Ensure housing is 
safe and warm 
 
 
Actions: 
Pro-actively tackle sub-
standard housing to improve 
residents’ health and 
wellbeing.  
 
Work with housing landlords 
to ensure that homes are 
suitable to live in 
 
Tackle sub-standard housing 
to help address fuel poverty 

P
age 51



 

Allerdale Action Plan to Address Climate Change - April 2022 - page 32  
 

 

Allerdale Borough Council plans, policies and strategies 

Action Plan to Address Climate 
Change - Section C 
Decarbonisation of transport & 
reducing road miles 

Council Strategy Resilient Communities 
Strategy 

Economic Recovery and Growth 
Strategy 

Allerdale Local Plan 
 
 
 

Contribute to addressing wider 
community-based transport issues 
 
Review existing car user policy to 
identify sustainable travel incentives 
 
Work with main partners to achieve 
reduction in energy use and 
greenhouse gases in the delivery of 
Council services 
 
Maximise benefits of projects by 
partners  
 
Promote sustainable travel options 

Promote healthy, active 
lifestyles. 
 

Promote, support and encourage 
the development of 
opportunities to access inclusive, 
affordable, activities in the right 
places – 
promoting informal opportunities 
for activity such as walking and 
cycling 

Theme 4 – Harnessing changing 
lifestyle and working patterns to 
diversify and grow the economy –  
Strategic Transport Infrastructure  
Last Mile Logistics 

Policy S2 Sustainable Development 
Minimise impact on natural resources, waste 
reduction, recycling, low carbon energy, sustainable 
construction, locally sourced materials,  support local 
food production. 
 
Policies S4 and DM 14 Design 
Cycling and walking networks embedded in design. 
 
Policy S19 and SA50 Renewable Energy 
Supports renewable generation  
 
Policy S22 Transport Principles 
Priority to pedestrians and cycling in development 
and links to public transport hubs. Charging points 
for electric and hybrid vehicles. Travel Plans to 
support schemes to encourage a shift away from the 
car to public transport. 
 
Policies S24 and SA51 and 52 Open Space and Green 
Infrastructure. Can include cycling and walking links. 
Site Allocations SA8-SA29, SA36-45 and SA46-49 
 
 

 

  

P
age 52



 

Allerdale Action Plan to Address Climate Change - April 2022 - page 33  
 

Allerdale Borough Council plans, policies and strategies 

Action Plan to Address Climate 
Change - Section D 
Planning to deliver zero carbon 
development that protects and 
enhances nature 

Council Strategy Resilient Communities Strategy Economic Recovery and 
Growth Strategy 

Allerdale Local Plan 
 
 

Ensure forthcoming legislation is 
effectively implemented and supported 
within the authority 
 
Regularly review planning policies to 
incorporate sustainable development 
taking into account the needs and 
character of the area through the Local 
Plan 
 
Ensure robust strategies are in place to 
support legislation 
 
Ensure interdepartmental coordination 
enables continuous improvement 
 
Examine existing supplementary 
planning guidance for sustainable 
development and determine if any 
change is required to bring guidance in 
line with best practice 
 
Promote higher building quality 
standards that include sustainable and 
green building principles 
 
Review existing main Council policies 
and consider making amendments to 
assist in tackling climate change 
 
Protect below market value (BMV) land 
to grow crops for local consumption. 

Promote healthy, active lifestyles. 
 
Build communities, not just 
homes 

Ensure good quality environments 
and create opportunities for 
activity and use of our open spaces 
 
 

Theme 5 – Creating thriving 
visitor destinations, towns, rural 
communities – 
Town Centres 
Public Realm and Green 
Infrastructure 
Infrastructure Resilience 

Policy S2 - Sustainable Development  
minimise impact on natural resources, waste 
reduction, recycling, low carbon energy, sustainable 
construction, locally sourced materials, habitat 
protection, sustainable drainage, support local food 
production 
S3 Spatial Strategy- sustainable location of 
development 
 
Policies S4 and DM 14 Design Sustainable 
construction methods that reduce energy 
consumption, water efficiency,  enhance 
biodiversity, cycling and walking networks 
 
Policy S35 Protection and enhancement of 
biodiversity and biodiversity net gain guidance 
 
Policy S36 Air, Water and Soil Quality 
 
Policy DM17 Trees, Hedgerows and Woodlands 
 
Policies S24 and SA51 and 52 Open Space and Green 
Infrastructure 
Site allocations SA8-SA29, SA36-45 and SA46-49 

 

  

P
age 53



 

Allerdale Action Plan to Address Climate Change - April 2022 - page 34  
 

Allerdale Borough Council plans, policies and strategies 

Action Plan to Address Climate 
Change - Section E 
Reducing waste and encouraging 
sustainable consumption: within 
Allerdale Borough Council estate 
and by residents and businesses 

Council Strategy Resilient Communities 
Strategy 

Allerdale Local Plan Strategic Commissioning and 
Procurement Strategy 2020-
2030 

Household Waste and 
Recycling Policy 

Review departmental and central 
printing strategy 
 

Review potential for further 
reducing volume of paper for 
Committee work 
 

Consider extending the use of video 
conferencing 
 

Continue re-use schemes when 
disposing of furniture/ equipment 
 

Consider impact of on staff and the 
community in accessing and 
delivery of services at current and 
potential Council Centres. 
 

Monitor working temperatures and 
other factors adversely affecting 
workforce.  
 

Regularly review the Council’s 
Strategic Procurement Strategy to 
increase the purchase of 
sustainable goods and services 
 

Review the Council’s use of outside 
caterers and when used include the 
need for locally sourced food and 
reusable or recyclable utensils. 
 

Improve recycling knowledge and 
practices in Allerdale including 
awareness of service 
 

Extend provision of doorstep 
recycling facilities in accordance 
with annual programme 
 

Ensure environmental 
sustainability is at the 
heart of our policies. 
 
Be bold in our use of 
technology 
 
Look at different and 
better ways to deliver 
services 
 
Reduce waste and 
increase recycling 
 
Engage with our 
communities and Town 
and Parish Councils 

Encourage people to get 
involved in taking care of 
their local environment 
through activities such as 
community clear up 
activities. 
 
Support and promote 
community-led clean-up 
activities. 
 
Provide opportunities to 
volunteer to help manage 
open spaces which can also 
help to improve 
understanding of biodiversity 
and Climate change issues. 
 
Encourage local 
management of open spaces. 
 
Use our tools to tackle fly 
tipping, littering and dog 
fouling – this includes 
prevention, education, and 
enforcement where 
necessary. 

Policy S2 - Sustainable Development  
Minimise impact on natural 
resources, waste reduction, 
recycling, low carbon energy, 
sustainable construction, locally 
sourced materials,  support local 
food production. 
 
Policies S30 and S31 reuse of land 
and buildings 
 
Policy DM12 Sustainable 
Construction 
energy efficiency, use of renewable 
energy, water efficiency, locally 
sourced and recycled materials, 
composting facilities 

Objective: Build ethical and 
sustainable practices into all 
procurements and continue to 
evaluate on a whole-life cycle basis 
taking into account long term 
impacts (including environmental 
impacts) and maximising social 
return on investment 
 
Objective: Ensure climate change 
implications are considered 
throughout the procurement 
process such as, reducing waste, 
buying locally and encouraging new 
technologies such as using video 
conferencing for supplier 
engagement to reduce vehicle 
emissions. 
 
Actions 2020/21: 
Work with other District Councils 
and Cumbria County Council to have 
some shared Social Value, Public 
Value measures and responses to 
Modern Slavery and Climate 
Emergency 
 
 
 

Reduce the amount of total 
waste and encourage reuse 
at source before it is 
collected. 
 
Maximise the use of 
recycling within the total 
waste and recycling 
collected. 
 
Reduce the amount of waste 
going to landfill in line with 
the waste hierarchy. 
 
Continue to collect bulky 
waste and white goods 
which are sent for repair and 
reuse. 

P
age 54



 

Allerdale Action Plan to Address Climate Change - April 2022 - page 35  
 

Allerdale Borough Council plans, policies and strategies 

Action Plan to Address Climate 
Change - Section E 
Reducing waste and encouraging 
sustainable consumption: within 
Allerdale Borough Council estate 
and by residents and businesses 

Council Strategy Resilient Communities 
Strategy 

Allerdale Local Plan Strategic Commissioning and 
Procurement Strategy 2020-
2030 

Household Waste and 
Recycling Policy 

Minimisation of residual waste  
 

Minimisation of residual waste at 
source 

  

P
age 55



 

Allerdale Action Plan to Address Climate Change - April 2022 - page 36  
 

Allerdale Borough Council plans, policies and strategies 

Action Plan to Address Climate 
Change - Section F 
Restoring nature for all:  
Biodiversity, land use, land use 
change and forestry and water, 
flooding and coastal change 

Council Strategy Resilient Communities Strategy Allerdale Local Plan 

Nature reserves become sustainable 
Support for community focused 
projects  
 
Promote biodiversity by 
a)  planting to minimise 
maintenance/ links to biodiversity 
b)  identify areas of land for tree 
planting 
c)  encourage composting 
d)  promote/develop more Get 
Cumbria Buzzing sites 
e)  promote habitat restoration, 
particularly including saltmarsh and 
seagrass beds 
f)  Work with Cumbria Farmers 
Network to promote sustainable 
farming and improved environmental 
practice 
 
Reduction in overall flood risk  
 
Reduce flood probability and severity 
 
Explore carbon capture potential 
 
Explore hydrogen-related energy 
possibilities 
 
Increased community awareness of 
climate change issues in AONB area 
Prevent import of pests, diseases 
through local docks 
 

Improve and protect our open spaces 
and green infrastructure. 
 
Make sure our neighbourhoods are clean 
and tidy 
 
Promote healthy active lifestyles 
Improve and protect our open spaces 
and infrastructure 

Put community and wellbeing at the heart of what we do 
 
Protect and enhance parks and open spaces for use and 
enjoyment by our communities, ideally working with 
local communities to manage these. 
 
Help to improve physical and mental wellbeing through 
access to a range of activities including volunteering in 
the natural environment which can also improve 
understanding of biodiversity and climate change. 

Policy S35 Protection and enhancement of 
biodiversity and biodiversity net gain guidance. 
Ensures biodiversity is protected and enhanced as 
part of any development. 
 
Policy S36 Air, Water and Soil Quality 
 
Policy DM17 Trees, Hedgerows and Woodlands 
 
Policies S24 and SA51 and 52 Open Space and 
Green Infrastructure 
Multi-functional habitat networks, green buildings, 
sustainable drainage and flood mitigation 
solutions, woodland management 
Site allocations SA8-SA29, SA36-45 and SA46-49 

P
age 56



 

Allerdale Action Plan to Address Climate Change - April 2022 - page 37  
 

 

 

  

Implement results of trial using water 
saving devices in Council buildings 
and assess scope for extending 
 
Assess scope for reuse of grey water 
in Council buildings and prioritise for 
action 
 
Recognise the Council’s role in 
ensuring sufficient public water for 
agriculture, industry, council use 
including statutory duties with regard 
to private water supplies and 
improving water sanitation 
 
Raise awareness of staff and 
community on water saving 
measures 
 
Work to address coastal issues 
 
Increase river and coastal flood 
resilience and safety 
 
Review beach cleaning activities 
 
Support ongoing work with partners 
to address diffuse pollution and 
improve bathing water quality 
 
Support ongoing action plan for 
Allonby as a priority bathing water. 
 

P
age 57



 

Allerdale Action Plan to Address Climate Change - April 2022 - page 38  
 

Allerdale Borough Council plans, policies and strategies 

Action Plan to Address Climate 
Change - Section G 
Developing local authority funding, 
governance and accounting systems 
that are fit for purpose    

Council Strategy Strategic Commissioning and Procurement Strategy 2020-2030 
 
 
 

Scrutiny of treasury and procurement 
via Overview and Scrutiny and/or 
Audit Committee to ensure actions 
are in line with the Action Plan to 
Address Climate Change aims 
 
Innovative funding and financing 
mechanisms  
 
Access the UK shared prosperity fund 
to fund the transition to the low 
carbon economy 
 
Provide government with the 
evidence that helps local authorities 
to apply policies and target resources 
to deliver necessary cuts in emissions 

Look at different and better ways to deliver services. Deliver a Sustainable Council.  
Strategic commissioning and procurement is concerned with the end-to-end 
process, not simply the transaction of buying. It involves understanding the 
council as an integral part of the supply chain, not just a buyer of goods and 
services. 

 

P
age 58



Allerdale Borough Council – Executive Reports and Key Decisions 
 
1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023 
 

Decision Date decision to be 
made and decision 
maker 

Open/Exempt Portfolio Holder Officer contact details 

Consideration for 
Project Business 
Cases for the 
Workington Town Deal 
 
Key Decision 

Executive 
 
1 March 2022 

Part exempt 
 
 

Leader and Executive 
Member: Economic 
Growth, Community 
Development and 
Placemaking (Councillor 
Mike Johnson) 

Kevin Kerrigan, 
Programme Director for 
Workington 
 
kevin.kerrigan@allerdal
e.gov.uk 

Quarter 3 Performance 
Report 2021/22 
 
Non-Key Decision 
 
A report detailing 
performance against the 
Council Strategy 
Delivery plan 2021/22 at 
the end of Quarter 3 
2021/22. 

Executive 
 
23 March 2022 

Open 
 
 

Deputy Leader and 
Executive Member: 
Policy, Governance and 
People Resources 
(Councillor Marion 
Fitzgerald), Leader and 
Executive Member: 
Economic Growth, 
Community 
Development and 
Placemaking (Councillor 
Mike Johnson) 

Alex FitzGerald, Senior 
Policy and Improvement 
Officer 
 
alex.fitzgerald@allerdale
.gov.uk 

Quarter 3 Finance 
Report Oct to Dec 2021 
 
Key Decision 
 
To inform members of 
the Council’s financial 

Executive 
 
23 March 2022 

Open 
 
 

Executive Member: 
Finance and Legal 
(Councillor Colin 
Sharpe) 

Catherine Nicholson, 
Chief Officer (Assets) 
and S151 Officer 
 
catherine.nicholson@all
erdale.gov.uk 

P
age 59

A
genda Item

 9



performance against 
budget for the period 
April to December 2021 
along with the forecast 
position to 31 March 
2022 

Local Development 
Scheme 
 
Key Decision 
 
The Council is required 
to publish an up to date 
Local Development 
Scheme which sets out 
the scope and key 
milestones relating to 
the planning policy work 
programme. 

Assistant Chief 
Executive (Policy, 
Performance and 
Economic Strategy) 
 
31 March 2022 

Open 
 
 

Deputy Leader and 
Executive Member: 
Policy, Governance and 
People Resources 
(Councillor Marion 
Fitzgerald) 

 
 
 

Homelessness and 
Rough Sleeping 
Strategy 
 
Key Decision 
 
A strategy setting out 
the council's approach 
to tackling and 
preventing 
homelessness and 
rough sleeping in 
Allerdale. 

Executive 
 
20 April 2022 

Open 
 
 

Deputy Leader and 
Executive Member: 
Policy, Governance and 
People Resources 
(Councillor Marion 
Fitzgerald) 

Alex FitzGerald, Senior 
Policy and Improvement 
Officer 
 
alex.fitzgerald@allerdale
.gov.uk 

P
age 60



Council Strategy 
Delivery Plan 2022/23 
 
Key Decision 

Executive 
 
20 April 2022 

Open 
 
 

Leader and Executive 
Member: Economic 
Growth, Community 
Development and 
Placemaking (Councillor 
Mike Johnson) 

Nik Hardy, Assistant 
Chief Executive (Policy, 
Performance and 
Economic Strategy) 
 
nik.hardy@allerdale.gov
.uk 

Social Impact 
Investment Fund 
 
Key Decision 
 
To agree the process for 
allocating funds from the 
Allerdale Social Impact 
Investment Fund, for 
2022- 2023. 

Executive  
 
20 April 2022  
 

Open 
 
 

Leader and Executive 
Member: Economic 
Growth, Community 
Development and 
Placemaking (Councillor 
Mike Johnson) 

Nik Hardy, Assistant 
Chief Executive (Policy, 
Performance and 
Economic Strategy) 
 
nik.hardy@allerdale.gov
.uk 

Affordable Housing 
Scheme 
 
Key Decision 

Executive 
 
20 April 2022 

Open 
 
 

Deputy Leader and 
Executive Member: 
Policy, Governance and 
People Resources 
(Councillor Marion 
Fitzgerald), Leader and 
Executive Member: 
Economic Growth, 
Community 
Development and 
Placemaking (Councillor 
Mike Johnson) 
 
 
 

Andrea Smith, Housing 
Manager 
 
andrea.smith@allerdale.
gov.uk 

P
age 61



Freehold Disposal of 
Old Station Building at 
Station Road Keswick 
 
Key Decision 
 
The disposal will result 
in a capital receipt which 
can be ringfenced to 
improve the area. 

Executive 
 
20 April 2022 

Part exempt 
 
 

Leader and Executive 
Member: Economic 
Growth, Community 
Development and 
Placemaking (Councillor 
Mike Johnson) 

Catherine Nicholson, 
Chief Officer (Assets) 
and S151 Officer 
 
catherine.nicholson@all
erdale.gov.uk 

Capital Investment 
Strategy 2022/23 
 
Key Decision 
 
To present the Capital 
Investment Strategy 

Executive  
 
20 April 2022  
 
Council 
 
18 May 2022 

Open 
 
 

Executive Member: 
Finance and Legal 
(Councillor Colin 
Sharpe) 

Catherine Nicholson, 
Chief Officer (Assets) 
and S151 Officer 
 
catherine.nicholson@all
erdale.gov.uk 

Committee 
Memberships 2022/23 
 
Non-Key Decision 

Council 
 
18 May 2022 

Open 
 
 

Deputy Leader and 
Executive Member: 
Policy, Governance and 
People Resources 
(Councillor Marion 
Fitzgerald) 

Sharon Sewell, Chief 
Officer (Place and 
Governance) and 
Monitoring Officer 
 
sharon.sewell@allerdale
.gov.uk 

Outside Body 
Representatives 
2022/23 
 
Non-Key Decision 

Council 
 
18 May 2022 

Open 
 
 

Deputy Leader and 
Executive Member: 
Policy, Governance and 
People Resources 
(Councillor Marion 
Fitzgerald) 

Sharon Sewell, Chief 
Officer (Place and 
Governance) and 
Monitoring Officer 
 
sharon.sewell@allerdale
.gov.uk 

P
age 62



Calendar of Meetings 
2022/23 
 
Non-Key Decision 

Council 
 
18 May 2022 

Open 
 
 

Deputy Leader and 
Executive Member: 
Policy, Governance and 
People Resources 
(Councillor Marion 
Fitzgerald) 

Sharon Sewell, Chief 
Officer (Place and 
Governance) and 
Monitoring Officer 
 
sharon.sewell@allerdale
.gov.uk 

Outside Body 
Representatives 
2022/23 
 
Non-Key Decision 

Executive 
 
22 June 2022 

Open 
 
 

Leader and Executive 
Member: Economic 
Growth, Community 
Development and 
Placemaking (Councillor 
Mike Johnson) 

Sharon Sewell, Chief 
Officer (Place and 
Governance) and 
Monitoring Officer 
 
sharon.sewell@allerdale
.gov.uk 

Quarter 4 Performance 
Report 2021/22 
 
Non-Key Decision 
 
A report detailing 
performance against the 
Council Strategy 
Delivery plan 2021/22 at 
the end of Quarter 4 
2021/22. 

Executive 
 
22 June 2022 

Open 
 
 

Deputy Leader and 
Executive Member: 
Policy, Governance and 
People Resources 
(Councillor Marion 
Fitzgerald), Leader and 
Executive Member: 
Economic Growth, 
Community 
Development and 
Placemaking (Councillor 
Mike Johnson) 

Ian Brogden, Digital 
Transformation Officer, 
Alex FitzGerald, Senior 
Policy and Improvement 
Officer 
 
ian.brogden@allerdale.g
ov.uk, 
alex.fitzgerald@allerdale
.gov.uk 

Revenue Outturn 
2021/22 
 
Key Decision 
 
To inform members of 

Executive 
 
20 July 2022 

Open 
 
 

Executive Member: 
Finance and Legal 
(Councillor Colin 
Sharpe) 

Catherine Nicholson, 
Chief Officer (Assets) 
and S151 Officer 
 
catherine.nicholson@all
erdale.gov.uk 

P
age 63



the 
• revenue outturn for 
2021/22 and make 
recommendations on 
budget carry forwards 
and transfers to and 
from reserves. 
 

Capital Outturn 
2021/22 
 
Key Decision 
 
To inform members of 
the 
• capital outturn position 
for 2021/22 and to 
approve the carry-
forward of capital 
resources to 2022/23. 

Executive 
 
20 July 2022 

Open 
 
 

Executive Member: 
Finance and Legal 
(Councillor Colin 
Sharpe) 

Catherine Nicholson, 
Chief Officer (Assets) 
and S151 Officer 
 
catherine.nicholson@all
erdale.gov.uk 

Quarter 1 Performance 
Report 2022/23 
 
Non-Key Decision 
 
A report detailing 
performance against the 
Council Strategy 
Delivery Plan 2022/23 at 
the end of Quarter 1 

Executive 
 
7 September 2022 

Open 
 
 

Deputy Leader and 
Executive Member: 
Policy, Governance and 
People Resources 
(Councillor Marion 
Fitzgerald), Leader and 
Executive Member: 
Economic Growth, 
Community 
Development and 

Ian Brogden, Digital 
Transformation Officer, 
Alex FitzGerald, Senior 
Policy and Improvement 
Officer 
 
ian.brogden@allerdale.g
ov.uk, 
alex.fitzgerald@allerdale
.gov.uk 

P
age 64



2022/23. Placemaking (Councillor 
Mike Johnson) 

Statement of Accounts 
2021/22 
 
Key Decision 
 
To present members 
with the Statement of 
Accounts for 
consideration and 
approval 

Audit Committee 
 
26 September 2022 

Open 
 
 

Executive Member: 
Finance and Legal 
(Councillor Colin 
Sharpe) 

Catherine Nicholson, 
Chief Officer (Assets) 
and S151 Officer 
 
catherine.nicholson@all
erdale.gov.uk 

Finance Report for the 
period April to July 
2022 
 
Key Decision 
 
To inform members of 
the Council’s financial 
performance against 
budget for the period 
April to July 2022 along 
with the forecast position 
to 31 March 2023 

Executive 
 
12 October 2022 

Open 
 
 

Executive Member: 
Finance and Legal 
(Councillor Colin 
Sharpe) 

Catherine Nicholson, 
Chief Officer (Assets) 
and S151 Officer 
 
catherine.nicholson@all
erdale.gov.uk 

Quarter 2 Performance 
Report 2022/23 
 
Non-Key Decision 
 
A report detailing 
performance against the 

Executive 
 
23 November 2022 

Open 
 
 

Deputy Leader and 
Executive Member: 
Policy, Governance and 
People Resources 
(Councillor Marion 
Fitzgerald), Leader and 
Executive Member: 

Ian Brogden, Digital 
Transformation Officer, 
Alex FitzGerald, Senior 
Policy and Improvement 
Officer 
 
ian.brogden@allerdale.g

P
age 65



Council Strategy 
Delivery Plan 2022/23 at 
the end of Quarter 2 
2022/23. 

Economic Growth, 
Community 
Development and 
Placemaking (Councillor 
Mike Johnson) 

ov.uk, 
alex.fitzgerald@allerdale
.gov.uk 

Quarter 2 Finance 
report and Revised 
budget 2022/23 
 
Key Decision 
 
To inform members of 
the Council’s financial 
performance against 
budget for the period 
April to September 2022 
along with the forecast 
position to 31 March 
2023 and to seek 
approval for the revised 
revenue and capital 
budgets for 2022/23. 

Executive  
 
23 November 2022  
 
Council 
 
7 December 2022 

Open 
 
 

Executive Member: 
Finance and Legal 
(Councillor Colin 
Sharpe) 

Catherine Nicholson, 
Chief Officer (Assets) 
and S151 Officer 
 
catherine.nicholson@all
erdale.gov.uk 

Treasury Management 
Operation Annual 
Report 2021/22 
 
Key Decision 
 
: To inform members of 
the performance of the 
Council’s treasury 
management activities 

Audit Committee  
 
26 September 2022  
 
Council 
 
7 December 2022 

Open 
 
 

Executive Member: 
Finance and Legal 
(Councillor Colin 
Sharpe) 

Barry Lennox, Financial 
Services Manager 
 
barry.lennox@allerdale.
gov.uk 

P
age 66



for the year 

Treasury Management 
Operations – Mid-year 
review 2022/23 
 
Key Decision 
 
To inform members of 
the Council’s treasury 
management activities 
during the six-month 
period ending 30 
September 2022 

Audit Committee  
 
28 November 2022  
 
Council 
 
7 December 2022 

Open 
 
 

Executive Member: 
Finance and Legal 
(Councillor Colin 
Sharpe) 

Barry Lennox, Financial 
Services Manager 
 
barry.lennox@allerdale.
gov.uk 

Quarter 3 Finance 
Report Oct to Dec 2022 
 
Key Decision 
 
To inform members of 
the Council’s financial 
performance against 
budget for the period 
April to December 2022 
along with the forecast 
position to 31 March 
2023 

Executive 
 
15 March 2023 

Open 
 
 

Executive Member: 
Finance and Legal 
(Councillor Colin 
Sharpe) 

Catherine Nicholson, 
Chief Officer (Assets) 
and S151 Officer 
 
catherine.nicholson@all
erdale.gov.uk 

Quarter 3 Performance 
Report 2022/23 
 
Non-Key Decision 
 
A report detailing 

Executive 
 
15 March 2023 

Open 
 
 

Deputy Leader and 
Executive Member: 
Policy, Governance and 
People Resources 
(Councillor Marion 
Fitzgerald), Leader and 

Ian Brogden, Digital 
Transformation Officer, 
Alex FitzGerald, Senior 
Policy and Improvement 
Officer 
 

P
age 67



performance against the 
Council Strategy 
Delivery Plan 2022/23 at 
the end of Quarter 3 
2022/23. 

Executive Member: 
Economic Growth, 
Community 
Development and 
Placemaking (Councillor 
Mike Johnson) 

ian.brogden@allerdale.g
ov.uk, 
alex.fitzgerald@allerdale
.gov.uk 

 
Meetings of the Council, Executive and Scrutiny Committees are open to the public (except when exempt (confidential) items are 
being considered).  It is advisable to check the agenda before attending a meeting, as decision dates may be subject to change.   
Agendas and supporting documents for meetings of the Executive can be found on the Council’s website www.allerdale.gov.uk or 
at Allerdale House, Workington, Cumbria, CA14 3YJ 
 
Further information is available by calling 01900 702502 
 
Any representations as to why a meeting should be open to the public should be made in writing to Democratic Services at the 
above address. 
 
A list of the Executive members can be found at http://democracy.allerdale.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=11

P
age 68

http://www.allerdale.gov.uk/
http://democracy.allerdale.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=11


 

 

 Leisure and Culture Provision 

Overview and Scrutiny 

Task and Finish Group Report 

March 2022 

 

  

Page 69

Agenda Item 10



 

Overview and Scrutiny  2 
 

Introduction and background 

Leisure and sports provision has had some high profile discussion and publicity relatively 
recently and the Council’s role in advocating for and enabling arts and cultural activities has 
changed in recent years.  

Allerdale Borough Council’s contract with its provider to run leisure centres is coming to the final 
years of the current agreement.  Work has been started to take a fundamental look at leisure 
provision and the existing model of leisure centres, given what appear to be changing habits in 
physical activity.  Work is also underway on the development of a Cultural Strategy for West 
Cumbria (Allerdale and Copeland footprint).  

Overview and Scrutiny Committee have taken the view that leisure and culture provision is 
extremely important to our communities and it is important to track these pieces of work and 
other leisure and culture related activity.     

The recent local government reorganisation announcement means that Allerdale Borough 
Council will be replaced by a new unitary local authority in 2023 covering the footprint of 
Allerdale, Copeland and Carlisle councils.  It will be important to consider this context in relation 
to this review both in terms of transition to the new authority and how it plans to operate in the 
future. 

Leisure and Culture Task and Finish Group 

At their meeting on 16 July 2021 Overview and Scrutiny Committee members were supportive 
of the establishment of a task and finish group to consider this review topic.  

In line with an established approach to involve the wider membership in tasks and finish group 
work, all non-executive members were given the opportunity to join this group along with some 
members from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  Two non-Scrutiny members joined this 
Task and Finish Group.  

The Task and Finish Group membership consisted of: 

Cllr Michael Heaslip (Chair)  
Cllr Janet Farebrother 
Cllr Ron Munby  
Cllr Paul Scott  
Cllr Andy Semple 

Review scope 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee set the scope of the review at their meeting 2 September 
2021.  The review was intended to follow different aspects of leisure and culture provision 
including:  

 To consider the review of leisure services provision and how this work will transfer to the 
new unitary authority; 

 To monitor engagement in and the effectiveness of the sports village proposals in 
Workington (including how this work will transfer to the new unitary authority); 

 To consider the development of the cultural strategy for West Cumbria in terms of 
content, engagement of stakeholders and relevance to the new unitary authority;  

 To consider how culture and leisure provision might be supported or delivered in future.   

Page 70



 

Overview and Scrutiny  3 
 

The review considered strategic approaches to leisure and culture provision rather than looking 
in detail at operational issues and questions. 

The Review  
Over the course of three meetings, members considered a range of information relating to 
approaches to leisure and cultural provision in Allerdale.  Officers provided an overview of the 
council’s strategic approach to leisure provision, the development of the stadium in Workington 
and the development of a new cultural strategy for West Cumbria.   

The Group were also updated on the work that had taken place to explore potential options for 
the delivery of leisure services in the near future.  The Council’s contract (and that of 
neighbouring Copeland Borough Council) with its provider to run leisure centres is coming to the 
final years of the current agreement.  Joint exploratory work has been undertaken with 
Copeland Borough Council to take a fundamental look at leisure provision and what might be 
possible in the future.  This work is scheduled to continue as part of the local government 
reorganisation programme.    

The Group were keen to understand the background to the commissioning of a new Cultural 
Strategy for West Cumbria and see the draft outline of the strategy as it developed.  Officers 
also provided an overview of the Creative People and Places bid that was bringing funding to 
West Cumbria for community arts programmes.  

Documents considered by the TFG included: 

 Allerdale Indoor Sports Strategy  

 Allerdale Playing Pitch Strategy 

 Resilient Communities Strategy  

 The strategy commission for the West Cumbria Cultural Strategy 

 Carlisle’s Strategic Cultural Framework 

 The draft outline of the West Cumbria Cultural Strategy 

 List of stakeholders involved in the development of the West Cumbria Cultural Strategy 

 Mapping of cultural facilities and organisations in West Cumbria 

Findings and recommendations 

Summary of the Group’s findings 

Members discussed the importance of culture, leisure and sports to communities in Allerdale 
and felt it was important for that to be highlighted in this report. 

Members recognise the potential for investment in culture leisure and sport to contribute to 
wider outcomes.  The health benefits of sport and leisure activities are clear, with non-traditional 
sport, physical activity and informal active recreation as important as formal sports activities and 
provision in terms of health and wellbeing. Alongside this, the value that cultural activity and the 
enjoyment of open and natural spaces can have in improving physical and mental wellbeing 
have increasingly been recognised and evidenced. 

Page 71



 

Overview and Scrutiny  4 
 

There are secondary benefits of engaging in physical activity, arts and heritage activities such – 
it can encourage skill development and employability, save on transport costs and reduce 
congestion through activities like walking and cycling, helping the environment.   

It is also important to recognise the key role that leisure opportunities play in placemaking. 
Access to sports, arts and culture have been shown to be a key element in making places 
attractive to both live in and visit.  

Members felt that for these reasons it was important to see leisure and culture as central to 
provision and programmes, not optional or an afterthought.  

Leisure and cultural services and facilities in Allerdale are offered by a wide range of providers 
including commercial, third sector and voluntary groups as well as the Council and other public 
sector organisations.  The Council remains a key provider of sport, art and leisure opportunities, 
and the work of the Council is broad and varied, covering everything from parks and open 
spaces to leisure centres and playing pitches.     

The Group recognised that the pattern of formal provision of sport and leisure and culture by the 
Council was in large part based on historical patterns of provision and not necessarily on up to 
date analysis of needs/expectations of communities across Allerdale.  

There is effective mapping in place of sports and physical activity facilities across Allerdale and 
across sectors.  Mapping of cultural facilities and activities has previously been less 
comprehensive although the development of the West Cumbria Cultural Strategy is beginning to 
deal with this issue. 

The Group note that Active Cumbria does a good job in supporting the voluntary sports sector, 
but there does appear to be a lack of similar enabling and support organisations for the culture 
sector.  The Group recognised that the West Cumbria Cultural Strategy may help cultural 
organisations access funding and support via the Arts Council in future. 

Collaboration with Copeland on the contracting of council sports and leisure provision has 
begun and as the two leisure contracts end at the same date there may be potential for a single 
contract across Allerdale and Copeland, although the group recognise that the Carlisle contract 
has a much later end date. 

The Group did not consider the detail of the Sports Village proposal within the submitted Town 
Deal bid as the timing of the final proposal did not fit the Groups timetable; however the Group 
was satisfied that all available information on local provision and need for sporting facilities had 
been made available to the authors of the bid. 

Recommendations 

1. Corporate and community planning for the new Cumberland Council should recognise the 
centrality of sport leisure and culture in the life of the communities it serves and accord it a 
high policy priority. 

2. The future pattern of sports, leisure and cultural provision across Cumberland should be 
based on deeper analysis of legitimate expectations of our communities as to what can be 
provided locally by whichever provider (with or without council support). Council support 
should not always be read as financial support, but may be a range of other things. 

3. It should be recognised that Allerdale is made up of a number of different places and the 
new Cumberland Council will be made up of an even larger number of different places and 

Page 72



 

Overview and Scrutiny  5 
 

any policy arrangements should reflect the different character, nature and circumstances of 
those different places.  

4. Cumberland Council Shadow Authority need to make an early decision to adopt a single 
contract for sports and leisure provision across Allerdale and Copeland areas and consider 
whether the contract management system adopted by the new Cumberland Council could 
integrate the Carlisle contract. 

5. The West Cumbria Cultural Strategy needs to be completed and its recommendations 
considered by the Council.  The final draft version should be presented to all councillors. 

 

 

 

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 74



 

 

  

“Allerdale  – 
  
a great place to live, work and visit” 

  

    

Community Leadership and 

Engagement 

Overview and Scrutiny 

Task and Finish Group Report 

March 2022 

  

     

  

  

Page 75



Community leadership and engagement Task and Finish Group Report March 2022  

Page 2 of 9 
 

Introduction and background  

At their meeting on 16 July 2021 Overview and Scrutiny Committee members 
were supportive of the establishment of a task and finish group to consider this 
review topic  

This group was created to consider the different aspects of community leadership, 
including the role of councillors as community leaders, the role of officers in area / 
community engagement and the different approaches for engaging with localities and 
communities.  

In line with an established approach to involve the wider membership in task and finish 
group work, all non-executive members were given the opportunity to join this group.  

 

The Task and Finish Group membership consisted of:  

  

Councillor Allan Daniels 
Councillor Hilary Harrington 
Councillor Michael Heaslip (Chair) 
Councillor Elaine Lynch  

Review scope 

The review is intended to explore different aspects of community leadership 

including: 

• The role of councillors as community leaders.  

- how should councillors engage with their areas, what support do they need?  

- how do or should councillors get involved in community organising? 

• The role of officers in area/community engagement and engagement with 

councillors. 

• Identification of best practice and approaches for engaging with localities and 

communities with regards to decision-making and design and delivery of 

services at a locality level 

• Whether there are existing distinctive plans for our locality areas, how they 

are developed and funded (economic, social, environmental, etc). 

 

The intention is that the review will identify recommendations that can either be 

implemented by Allerdale Borough Council in the short term or carried forward as 

principles for the new unitary authority to consider. 

 

Page 76



Community leadership and engagement Task and Finish Group Report March 2022  

Page 3 of 9 
 

What is a community? 

The term “community” is frequently used but rarely defined. The group agreed that 

community leadership and engagement must be something different to citizen or 

resident leadership or engagement or we would call it that. For these purposes, a 

definition was that communities were those places or localities where people lived 

and had shared experiences of public services and local facilities and where most 

non-work interactions took place.  An operational definition would be their local town 

and its hinterland with which people generally identified. 

The Statement of Community Involvement recently adopted by Allerdale Council is an 
example of the use of “community” where what is really meant is “public” or 
“stakeholder”. However, there is reference to “neighbourhood planning” which is, we 
would suggest, community involvement as defined. 

The maps appended to this report show: 

a) (Appendix X) the seven “community areas” of Allerdale. We believe that Carlisle 
and Copeland Councils also had such areas but we don’t know whether they remain. 

b) (Appendix Y) the fourteen “locality areas” of Cumberland, as proposed by Cumbria 
County Council, showing their “key service centres” (main settlement); again we don’t 
know whether they are extant. 

The Allerdale areas are aggregations of parishes, while the Cumbria areas are 
aggregations of wards. We prefer parishes as they represent real places, provide local 
democratic input, and rarely change, whereas wards are artificial constructs which can 
change at the stroke of a bureaucratic pen. 

Community-focussed plans and services 

We noted that much democratic representation, leadership, engagement and service 
delivery used to be structured around this understanding of community, often with a 
single “front door” access point, but many, though not all, have resiled from that under 
the pressure of budgets and the delusions of centralisation and (false) economies of 
scale. We need to re-assert the importance of those communities and the benefits of 
joining up services, engagement and representation in localities and communities. 
(See Appendix 3) 

We noted the report by Locality (“Saving money by doing the right thing: Why ‘local by 
default’ must replace diseconomies of scale”: 2014) which suggests that the real 
savings to be made in the public services are not through scale but through scope; 
joining up services locally around the legitimate expectations of individuals and 
communities results in greater effectiveness, and when done efficiently, produces 
economies. 

We recognise that the new Cumberland Council, recognising its geography, may see 
the need to direct some services at a high level on a dual North Cumberland / West 

Page 77



Community leadership and engagement Task and Finish Group Report March 2022  

Page 4 of 9 
 

Cumberland basis. However, while we acknowledge some citizen identification with 
those broad areas, we are not convinced that there need be any representational or 
engagement structures interposed between Cumberland and Communities. Certainly 
any re-invention of the previous Districts would be a retrograde step. We need to move 
on. 

Local Leadership listening and responding to residents  

The group looked at what worked in terms of listening, engaging and decision 
making. The core of a strong democratic community being town and parish councils 
that listen and respond to the needs of residents in a street, hamlet, village or town.  
 
The larger the unit of organisation, the more remote elected representatives and 
decision making becomes. It is therefore vital that community leaders are aware of 
the risks of a new larger council working in a two tier council structure and commit to 
bridge the gap and support town and parish councils to be an effective part of a 
joined up local government offer in Cumberland. (See Appendix 2). A reduction in the 
number of principal authority councillors in Cumberland to forty-six will inevitably 
result in reduced councillor engagement directly with citizens; Cumberland 
councillors working in a team with their parish councils and councillors can go some 
way to fill that gap if it is properly structured and supported. 
 
This led to the agreement that it was really important for the new council to commit to 
listen and involve residents through regular surveys and listening exercises. To re 
establish a regular pattern of residents surveys every two years that could be 
benchmarked against national surveys on local government and inform community 
engagement. (see Appendix 1) 
  

Engagement mechanisms and tools 

The group considered different ways to structure engagement with residents. The 

first was a detailed look at the Place Standard Tool. This was created and hosted by 

Architecture and Design Scotland. It is a way of assessing places. Whether the place 

is well-established, undergoing change, or is still being planned, the tool can help 

you. 

It offers an easy to complete web survey with a graphical output based on how you 

have entered the data. This could be completed by a workshop of participants, 

residents’ group, individual, family, class etc. This resource is freely available at: 

https://www.placestandard.scot/ 

Architecture and Design Scotland have some case studies on their web site.  

The following example is based on work done by council officers, testing the 

standard in the town of Irvine which has a population of just over 34,000 (2016 ONS)  

https://www.ads.org.uk/place-standard-irvine-testing-the-place-standard-tool-for-

officers/ 

Page 78

https://www.placestandard.scot/


Community leadership and engagement Task and Finish Group Report March 2022  

Page 5 of 9 
 

The following example is from Arbroath, population 23,900 (2016, National Records 

Scotland) 

https://www.ads.org.uk/place-standard-arbroath-article-4/ 

A number of informative videos have been made that enable you to see how the Place 

standard has been used.  

https://www.ads.org.uk/case-study-place-standard-uses-internationally/ 

The example of Wigton where the Place Standard tool was used to help shape the 

‘Borderlands’ investment plan in Wigton Town Centre. A second example from Wigton was 

discussed where a very simple survey was conducted about the local park and pond, this 

had a huge response and was distributed through local networks like schools and 

community groups.  

 

Existing approach: an example 

Allerdale Council adopted a Resilient Communities Strategy on 24 February 

2021 in Appendix A for Resilient Communities Strategy.pdf (allerdale.gov.uk) it 

has a focus on four areas  

 Engaging, involving, collaborating, and empowering  

 Promoting healthy, active lifestyles  

 Addressing community safety issues  

 Addressing inequalities and hardship 

The Council adopts the New Local Government Network (NLGN) model setting out 

five steps on an arc of citizen engagement: inform, consult, involve, collaborate and 

empower  

The strategy recognises that just 31% of residents felt they could influence decisions. 

27% wanted to be more involved. 59% said that it depended on the issue. Examples 

are given on page 8.  

The strategy sets out the important roles that officers and elected members have in 

this process. 

This approach is mirrored in the Allerdale Communications Strategy. ‘Section 3 - 

We’ll listen to our communities and empower them to address their issues’ 

focus on defining where Allerdale currently is, highlights how the council currently 

engages and sets out some of the tools to assist staff in meaningful engagement.  

However, we note that whats missing from the strategy is a definition of community, 

mechanisms which can bring that community and its elected representatives into 

Page 79

https://www.ads.org.uk/place-standard-arbroath-article-4/
https://democracy.allerdale.gov.uk/documents/s126397/Appendix%20A%20for%20Resilient%20Communities%20Strategy.pdf


Community leadership and engagement Task and Finish Group Report March 2022  

Page 6 of 9 
 

conversations about how it is led and served, and a recognition that the issues it 

focusses on are not the only ones that contribute to resilience. 

Recommendations  

The Task and Finish Group makes the following recommendations –   

R1 The Council and its successor authority should make use of standing local 

forums in community areas to bring town / parish councils, police, street 

scene, NHS / GP / Primary Care / Unitary Council etc. etc. together with 

members and representatives in the community leadership role to bring a 

renewed community focus and engagement to public services. The Council 

and its successor authority should ensure mechanisms and resources are in 

place to deliver the Resilient Communities Strategy and other strategies and 

plans which can impact on communities.  

 

R2 The Council should review how it engages with Town and Parish councils and 

ensure it has mechanisms to support and involve this tier of representation. 

Parish and Town Councils should be encouraged to work together in clusters. 

This would enable a consistent policy of devolution to be applied by the new 

Unitary Council. Services that might be suited to being delivered through joint 

working with Parish and Town Council clusters include street scene, 

enforcement, horticulture, parking etc 

 

R3      The Council and its successor authority should conduct regular resident 

surveys across the Council area and communities and ensure that these meet 

the standards set out by the Local Government Association to assist with 

benchmarking. This will help to inform decision making and ensure the 

Council is focused on the needs and views of a) the whole population and b) 

the local views of its communities 

 

 

  

  

Page 80



Community leadership and engagement Task and Finish Group Report March 2022  

Page 7 of 9 
 

Appendix 1 

Resident Satisfaction Surveys  

Local Government Association 

The LGA conducts a resident satisfaction poll, this is a triannual telephone survey of 

1,000 British adults across Great Britain. 

It has been carried out since September 2012 to measure: six key indicators of 

resident satisfaction (including satisfaction with how the council operates, trust in the 

council and the perceived value for money it offers), perceptions of community safety 

and satisfaction with specific council-run services. Reporting includes a roundup of 

the latest results at a national level, as well as any significant movements in 

satisfaction observed across the whole series. Polling typically takes place in 

February, June and October. 

The most recent survey results can be found here: https://www.local.gov.uk/our-

support/research-and-data/research-publications/residents-satisfaction-surveys 

The Local Government Association has enabled individual, groups of councils or 

regions to conduct or commission surveys in a way that data can be benchmarked 

against the nationally gathered data.  

 

Allerdale Council surveys 

Allerdale Council has undertaken regular resident satisfaction surveys that cover the 

whole district and can be analysed by community area. The first of the most recent 

series was The Place Survey in 2008. This was then followed by surveys in 2012, 

2014, 2016 and the most recent one in 2018. The reports for the 2014, 2016 and 

2018 surveys can be found on the Councils consultation web site: 

https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/consultation/ The most recent report confirms that 

these surveys were drawn up taking into account the guidance issued by the Local 

Government Association and “As far as possible these matched the weighting 

protocols used for the Place Survey (2008), LG Inform guidance and subsequent 

surveys for tracking purposes to ensure comparability”. 

In addition to the large scale whole borough surveys, the Council is required to 

undertake regular consultation on a wide range of policies, issues, proposals and 

decisions. These are detailed on the above consultation web site and recent 

examples include Budget consultation; Leisure facilities in Keswick; Workington 

Supplementary Planning Guidance; Housing allocations and Arts Council Creative 

People and Places.  

  

Page 81

https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/research-and-data/research-publications/residents-satisfaction-surveys
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/research-and-data/research-publications/residents-satisfaction-surveys
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/consultation/


Community leadership and engagement Task and Finish Group Report March 2022  

Page 8 of 9 
 

Appendix 2 

Councillors as community leaders 

The process of Local Government Reorganisation (LGR) in Cumbria has highlighted 

the role of Councillors as community leaders with the removal of a whole tier of 

councillors.   

The government also recognises the importance of Councillors as community 

leaders and funds the Local Government Association to provide a range of training 

and resources to support politicians in their role as community leaders, facilitators 

and brokers. 

The LGA have highlighted their available resources and training on one page 

https://www.local.gov.uk/Community-Leadership 

 

A core text from the LGA is  The Political Skills Framework - a councillor’s toolkit 

https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/read-revised-version-poli-

243.pdf 

A series of workbooks are available from the LGA, specifically for councillors on the 

following topics:  

 Acting on climate change 

 Being an effective ward councillor 

 Bribery and fraud prevention 

 Chairing skills 

 Commissioning services 

 Community leadership 

 Councillor / officer relations 

 Creating a 'fit for the future' organisation 

 Effective opposition during COVID-19, reset and recovery 

 Engaging young people 

 Equality, diversity and inclusion 

 Facilitation and conflict resolution 

 Handling casework 

 Handling complaints for service improvement 

 'Health in All Policies' (HiAP) and COVID-19 

 Influencing skills 

 Local government finance 

 Mentally healthier places 

 Neighbourhood and community engagement 

 Neighbourhood planning 

 Planning 

 Scrutiny 

 Scrutiny of finance 

 Stress management and personal resilience 

Page 82

https://www.local.gov.uk/Community-Leadership
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/read-revised-version-poli-243.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/read-revised-version-poli-243.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/councillor-workbook-acting-climate-change
https://www.local.gov.uk/councillor-workbook-being-effective-ward-councillor
https://www.local.gov.uk/councillor-workbook-bribery-and-fraud-prevention
https://www.local.gov.uk/councillor-workbook-chairing-skills
https://www.local.gov.uk/councillor-workbook-commissioning-services
https://www.local.gov.uk/councillor-workbook-community-leadership
https://www.local.gov.uk/councillor-workbook-councillorofficer-relations
http://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/L12-406%20Councillor%20workbook%20fit%20for%20the%20future%20v6.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/councillors-workbook-effective-opposition-during-covid-19-reset-and-recovery
https://www.local.gov.uk/councillor-workbook-engaging-young-people
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/councillors-workbook-equality-diversity-and-inclusion
https://www.local.gov.uk/councillor-workbook-facilitation-and-conflict-resolution
https://www.local.gov.uk/councillors-workbook-handling-casework
https://www.local.gov.uk/councillor-workbook-handling-complaints-service-improvement
https://www.local.gov.uk/councillor-workbook-health-all-policies-and-covid-19
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/councillors-workbook-influencing-skills-0
https://www.local.gov.uk/councillor-workbook-local-government-finance
https://www.local.gov.uk/councillors-workbook-mentally-healthier-places
https://www.local.gov.uk/councillor-workbook-neighbourhood-and-community-engagement
http://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/neighbourhood-planning-si-6bc.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/councillors-workbook-planning
https://www.local.gov.uk/councillors-workbook-scrutiny
https://www.local.gov.uk/councillor-workbook-scrutiny-finance
https://www.local.gov.uk/councillor-workbook-stress-management-and-personal-resilience


Community leadership and engagement Task and Finish Group Report March 2022  

Page 9 of 9 
 

 The local pathway to net zero 

 The role of leaders and cabinet members during the COVID-19 pandemic 

 Supporting residents with complex issues 

 Working with town and parish councils 

 

Appendix 3  

Locally delivered services, plans, and engagement 

We list some services, plans and engagement arrangements which are in place  or 

were in place which are configured broadly on the pattern of serving community 

areas. This is not an exhaustive list, but it is meant to illustrate the scope and 

importance of such provision. What is interesting to note is how little most of this stuff 

features on the agenda of current governance structures – which demonstrates the 

extent of the deficit in community leadership capacity and capability which those 

structures engender. And maybe how much we have forgotten what we once knew. 

Services: Secondary school catchments; Sure Start Centres: Adult Education; 

Childrens Local Delivery Platforms; Libraries; GP and Primary Care clusters; Fire & 

rescue; Neighbourhood Policing; Employment; Enterprise; Streetscene. Also Council 

Centres / Onestopshops / Local links as the single front door. 

Plans: Local Development Framework Local Plans; Regeneration and Market Town 

Plans; Neighbourhood Development Plans; Community Plans (Parish Clusters); ABC 

Area Assessments; 

Engagement: Neighbourhood Forums; Parish Clusters. 

 

Page 83

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/councillors-workbook-local-pathway-net-zero
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/covid-19-leadership-workbook-cabinet-members
https://www.local.gov.uk/councillor-workbook-supporting-residents-complex-issues
https://www.local.gov.uk/councillor-workbook-working-town-and-parish-councils


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 84



Appendix X : Allerdale Community Areas 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 86



Appendix Y :  Cumbria Proposed Localities and Key Service Centre 

 

 

 

 

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 88



Allerdale Borough Council 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 22 April 2022 

Selection of items for the OSC work programme 

  

Report from   Specialist - Policy  

Wards affected    All   

Is this a key decision  No  

  

1.0  The reason for the decision  

1.1 At this meeting the Committee is considering potential items for its work programme 

for the 2022/23 municipal year. This report provides background information to 

assist with the process of selection.  

 2.0   Recommendations  

 2.1 That the Committee agrees items to form a draft work programme against the criteria 

 herein.  

 3.0   Background and Introduction  

3.1  Overview and Scrutiny must add value to the work of the Council and produce 

worthwhile outcomes for local people.   

3.2  The guiding principle of Overview and Scrutiny is that it should involve constructive 

challenge with the aim of improving decision making and make a positive 

contribution to policy development and improving performance.   

3.3  It is the responsibility of each Overview and Scrutiny Committee to select suitable 

topics to be scrutinised and to set an annual work programme at the beginning of 

each municipal year. It also states that the work programme will be made up of 

priority issues and allow for the inclusion of ad hoc and urgent items during the 

year. 

4.0   Content  

4.1  When selecting topics, the Committee should have in mind a Council and borough 

rather than a ward level focus (although it can be useful if experiences at ward level 

are fed in when appropriate).   

4.2  Capacity is also an important consideration. The nature of Overview and Scrutiny 

can lead to the number of topics exceeding the Council’s capacity to deal with them 

in a thorough and effective way. The Committee should therefore consider the need 

Page 89

Agenda Item 11



to focus on priority issues which matter most and deliver outcomes that will make a 

difference.    

4.3  Work programme topics may be regular ‘standing items’ (e.g. scrutiny of Executive 

business and performance monitoring and budget scrutiny) or specific one off 

pieces of work.   

4.4  A structured approach to topic selection is crucial. Discipline is essential – individual 

issues, inappropriate issues and non-priorities need to be filtered out in a fair, 

consistent and open and transparent way. A selection process will help identify 

these and support this.   

  Positive reasons to select a topic   

• Improvements to local people and communities are likely   

• It is a corporate priority for the Council  

• There is evidence that it is a key issue for customers and communities with 

high levels of dissatisfaction   

• Evidence identifies an area of poor performance   

• Barriers exist which create inequality in service provision   

  Reasons to reject a topic   

• It is already being addressed and would lead to duplication   

• It is not within the remit of the Council (for example parts of Health 

Scrutiny/other partnership scrutiny where scrutiny mechanisms are in place 

and the Council can feed into these)  

• It is part of a legal process  

• It falls within the Council’s complaints procedure  

• It is subject to a disciplinary/grievance procedure  

• It is unlikely to result in real or tangible improvements for local people and 

communities   

  Questions to ask before selecting a topic   

• Why would we do this?  

• How does it link to the Council Strategy?   

• What would the Committee wish to achieve and why?   

• What benefits could result for local people and communities?   

• What evidence is there to support the need for a review?  

Page 90



  Competing topics   

  If too many topics are suggested for the time available, consider:  

• The importance in terms of the Council’s aims and priorities  

• The potential benefit of the widest possible section(s) of the community  

4.5 Committee members met informally on 24 March 2022 to consider suggestions for 

 work programme items that had been received from elected members and senior 

 officers.  Through discussion members have refined and grouped those 

suggestions  to form the list presented at Appendix 1.  

4.6 The Committee is now asked to review the list at Appendix 1, giving an opportunity 

 for committee members who were not able to attend the session on 24 March an  

 opportunity to comment on the suggested topics. 

4.7 The agreed list of topics for the work programme can then be presented to the new 

 Overview and Scrutiny Committee in May for adoption. 

5.0   Delivery arrangements  

5.1  Once topics are selected, for meetings the Committee can -  

a) Identify ‘standing items’ at the outset (annual budget/performance against the 

Council Strategy – quarterly reports)  

b) At each meeting the Committee can review the Forward Plan for forthcoming 

items requiring input or scrutiny  

c) Consider issues for potential in-depth review/inquiry (e.g., significant community 

concerns, major problem areas, poorly performing services, inequality in service 

provision, consistent areas of over/under spending).   

d) Consider issues for potential policy review or development (is something not 

working, are there gaps in policy, is input needed on major policy developments)  

e) Consider suggesting topics for external scrutiny where there are statutory duties 

or significant community concerns   

f) Regularly invite suggestions from members of the Council, the Executive, 

officers, partners and community organisations and groups.   

6.0  Implications and Impact  

6.1  Contribution to Council Strategy Priorities, Outputs and Outcomes   

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee role is central to contributing improvements 

assisting the delivery of the Council Strategy.  

6.2  Finance/Resource implications    

None directly from this report.  

Page 91



6.3  Legal and governance implications     

None directly from this report.  

6.4  Risk analysis  

  Not applicable.  

6.5  Increasing satisfaction and service  

  The Overview and Scrutiny Committee recognises the important contribution it 

makes to the Council’s overall satisfaction.  

6.6  Equality impacts  

  None directly from this report.  

6.7  Health and Safety impacts   

None directly from this report.  

6.8  Health, wellbeing and community safety impacts   

None directly from this report.  

6.9  Environmental/sustainability impacts      

None directly from this report.  

6.10  Other significant implications   

None from this report.  

  

Appendices attached to this report  

  

Appendix number  Title of appendix  

1.  List of topics to be considered for the programme  

  

  

  

Report author(s) and contact officer(s):  

Contact officer name – Timothy Godfrey  

Job title – Specialist - Policy 

Email address – Timothy.Godfrey@allerdale.gov.uk  

Tel no. – 01900 516 661 

  

Page 92



Appendix 1 

 

Draft work programme for the Scrutiny and Overview committee  

 

Meeting dates 

2022 2023 

Fri 27 May Fri 13 Jan 

Fri 24 June Fri 17 Feb 

Fri 22 July  

Fri 19 August  

Fri 16 Sept  

Fri 14 Oct  

Fri 11 Nov  

Fri 9 Dec  

 

 

 

Access to health services – GPs and Dentistry  

 To consider the delivery of GP and Dentistry services with particular regard to services 

in Workington 

 To scrutinise the plans of the NHS for these services  

 To work with County Health Scrutiny, Health Watch and Patient Participation Groups 

to understand the needs of the community in these services 

 

Monitoring of regeneration programmes 

 To review the delivery of the Maryport and Workington Town Deal programmes 

 To review the delivery of the Wigton programme, part of the Borderlands Inclusive 

Growth Deal 

 To understand the impact of rising inflation, especially the significant rise in the cost of 

materials on the delivery of these projects, to understand what mitigation measures 

are in place given the fixed total funds available 

 To consider any lessons for future projects 

 

Economic Recovery and Growth Strategy 

 To consider delivery progress and understand what the priorities for Allerdale Borough 

Council and then Cumberland Council might be 

 

  

Page 93



UK Shared prosperity Fund Investment Plan 

 To scrutinise the development and content of the Investment Plan to be developed in 

2022/23  
 

Inflation and cost of living impact on Council services 

 To ensure the council, its contractors and suppliers understand the impact that rising 

inflation has on service delivery costs across the council.  

 To consider the budget and service impact on key services areas such as Disabled 

Facilities Grants and Allerdale Waste Services.  

 

Gypsy and Traveller Site 

 Consider the consultants report into suitable sites for this statutory service 

 

Customer Services 

 To consider the impact on residents of appointment only and digital by default models 

of customer service 

 To consider how public service delivery hubs as ‘one stop shops’ for public services 

can be delivered, as detailed in the economic growth strategy.  

 To hear directly from customer service staff on the needs of residents 

 

Local Government Reorganisation 

 The work of the Cumberland Joint Committee 

 The arrangements for the scrutiny and overview function of the shadow authority 

 

Democratic participation in voting  

 Examine the process of identifying the location of polling stations, consultation 

processes, requirements for the size and number of polling districts and the timetable 

for review 

 Community Governance Review  

 

Other topics 

 The Council’s role in corporate parenting 

 Examine the use of the Public Value concept in assessing the Council’s decision-

making processes 

 

Regular and annual items 

 Quarterly performance and financial reports 

 Community Safety Partnership Review 

 Updates from representatives to other scrutiny bodies 

Page 94


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	6 Cumbria Safety Partnership Annual Review
	The Hub Management

	7 Climate Change Update Report
	Climate-change-action-plan_update-March22_draft

	9 Forward Plan
	10 Task and Finish Group/Working Group Updates
	Community Leadership and Engagement DRAFT_v0.2 report
	Appendix X   Allerdale Community Areas
	Appendix Y   Cumbria Proposed Localities and Key Service Centres

	11 Proposed Work Programme for 2022-23

